

University of Tennessee, Knoxville Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

8-2015

A Low-Power BFSK/OOK Transmitter for Wireless Sensors

Mohammed Shahriar Jahan University of Tennessee - Knoxville, mjahan@vols.utk.edu

Recommended Citation

Jahan, Mohammed Shahriar, "A Low-Power BFSK/OOK Transmitter for Wireless Sensors." PhD diss., University of Tennessee, 2015. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_graddiss/3427

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Mohammed Shahriar Jahan entitled "A Low-Power BFSK/OOK Transmitter for Wireless Sensors." I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Electrical Engineering.

Jeremy Holleman, Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

Benjamin B. Blalock, Syed K. Islam, Christopher Cherry

Accepted for the Council: <u>Dixie L. Thompson</u>

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

A Low-Power BFSK/OOK Transmitter for Wireless Sensors

A Dissertation Presented for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

Mohammed Shahriar Jahan

August 2015

Copyright © 2015 by Mohammed Shahriar Jahan

All rights reserved.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to the free-thinkers and the freedom-fighters of the world.

Acknowledgement

It has been a little more than five years since I started my studies in UT and there are so many people I should thank for helping me to get to where I am now. First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Jeremy Holleman, who offered me the opportunity to work with him and grow as a researcher in IC design. I thank him for all the guidance and encouragement throughout all these years of my Ph.D. program. I am also grateful to Dr. Syed Islam, Dr. Benjamin J. Blalock and Dr. Christopher Cherry for serving as my Ph.D. committee members. Their valuable suggestions helped me improve my work and dissertation.

I would like to thank my colleagues in Integrated Silicon Systems lab, Junjie Lu, Tan Yang, Jeremy Langford, Nicholas Poore, Peixing Liu, Mohsen Judy, Kelly Griffin and Arnab Baruah for their help and friendship. I would also thank members of the AVDL, ICASL and MLab groups, Kai Zhu, Terence Randall, Ifana Mahbub, Habib Hem, Khandaker Mamun, Jeff Dix, Madeline Threatt and Chris Crowder for making the long hours in the lab fun and enjoyable. Thanks to also my friends Habib Hem, Nabila Khalid, Badal Mahalder, Sanjib Das and their families for all those joyful weekends. Thanks to William Rhodes and Dana Bryson for their help and guidance with all the paperwork.

I doubt if I would even have the courage to come to a whole new country for studies without the support from my wife Fahmida Shaheen Tulip. I thank her for standing by me with all her warmth, affection and confidence during the tough times and good.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family back in Bangladesh. I acknowledge my late mother who toiled after me since my childhood to get me to good schools and then to a top-ranking university in my country. I only wish she were here to see me where I am now. I also thank my elder brother, who is an engineer himself, for sparking my interest in math and science by showing me all those cool math tricks in my childhood.

Abstract

In recent years, significant improvements in semiconductor technology have allowed consistent development of wireless chipsets in terms of functionality and form factor. This has opened up a broad range of applications for implantable wireless sensors and telemetry devices in multiple categories, such as military, industrial, and medical uses. The nature of these applications often requires the wireless sensors to be low-weight and energy-efficient to achieve long battery life. Among the various functions of these sensors, the communication block, used to transmit the gathered data, is typically the most power-hungry block. In typical wireless sensor networks, transmission range is below 10 meters and required radiated power is below 1 milliwatt. In such cases, power consumption of the frequency-synthesis circuits prior to the power amplifier of the transmitter becomes significant. Reducing this power consumption is currently the focus of various research endeavors. A popular method of achieving this goal is using a direct-modulation transmitter where the generated carrier is directly modulated with baseband data using simple modulation schemes.

Among the different variations of direct-modulation transmitters, transmitters using unlocked digitally-controlled oscillators and transmitters with injection or resonator-locked oscillators are widely investigated because of their simple structure. These transmitters can achieve low-power and stable operation either with the help of recalibration or by sacrificing tuning capability. In contrast, phase-locked-loop-based (PLL) transmitters are less researched. The PLL uses a feedback loop to lock the carrier to a reference frequency with a programmable ratio and thus achieves good frequency stability and convenient tunability. This work focuses on PLL-based transmitters. The initial goal of this work is to reduce the power consumption of the oscillator and frequency divider, the two most power-consuming blocks in a PLL. Novel topologies for these two blocks are proposed which achieve ultra-low-power operation. Along with measured performance, mathematical analysis to derive rule-of-thumb design approaches are presented. Finally, the full transmitter is implemented using these blocks in a 130 nanometer CMOS process and is successfully tested for low-power operation.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1	l Int	roduction	1	
1.1	Motiva	tion	1	
1.2	Research Goal			
1.3	Disserta	ation Overview	8	
Chapter 2	2 Lov	v-Power Voltage-Controlled Oscillator	9	
2.1	LC Osc	illator	9	
2.2	Ring Oscillator			
2.3	LC Oscillator vs. Ring Oscillator			
	2.3.1	Frequency Stability	. 13	
	2.3.2	Power Consumption, Chip Area and Tuning Range	. 17	
2.4	Phase N	Noise – Power Tradeoff for Low-data-rate Communication Systems	. 18	
2.5	Gain-Boosted LC Oscillator			
	2.5.1	Architecture and Operation	23	
	2.5.2	Mathematical Analysis	26	
	2.5.3	Measured Performance	. 35	
Chapter 3	8 Lov	v-Power Prescaler	. 40	
3.1	Digital	Logic Frequency Divider	. 41	
3.2	Injection-Locked Frequency Divider			
3.3	Hybrid Frequency Divider			
	3.3.1	Architecture and Operation	. 48	
	3.3.2	Mathematical Analysis for Design	. 50	

		3.3.3	Measured Performance	57	
Chap	ter 4	Pow	ver Amplifier	62	
2	4.1	Classes	of Power Amplifiers	62	
		4.1.1	Linear Power Amplifiers	63	
		4.1.2	Switching Power Amplifiers	65	
2	4.2	2 Low-Power Power Amplifier			
		4.2.1	Matching Network Calculation	67	
Chap	ter 5	5 Lov	v-Power 915 MHz Transmitter	72	
4	5.1	Prelimi	nary 3 rd -Order PLL Design	73	
		5.1.1	Loop Filter (LF) Design	73	
		5.1.2	Tuning Limiter	76	
		5.1.3	PLL Power Breakdown	77	
4	5.2	Modific	ations and Improvements over Preliminary PLL Design	78	
		5.2.1	Modification of GB-LC Analog Tuning	78	
		5.2.2	Optimization of GB-LC Power Consumption	80	
4	5.3	On-chip	Integration of PLL Peripherals	81	
Chap	ter 6	6 Mea	asured Performance of Low-Power Transmitter	83	
(5.1	Low-Po	ower 3 rd Order PLL	83	
(5.2	Low-Po	wer Transmitter	87	
Chap	ter 7	' Con	clusion and Future Works	96	
-	7.1	Origina	l Contributions	96	
-	7.2	Future V	Work	97	

References	
Vita	

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Brief overview of power consumption and efficiency of state-of-the-art transmitter
architectures7
Table 2.1. Performance comparison of the fabricated GB-LC with state-of-the-art. 39
Table 3.1 Performance comparison with the state-of-the-art
Table 5.1. Expected power consumption breakdown of the 3 rd order PLL with 1 MHz frequency
resolution
Table 5.2. Memory distribution of the transmitter-programming register
Table 6.1. Power Amplifier output power levels, power consumption and efficiencies. 91
Table 6.2. Power breakdown of the proposed transmitter in the second phase. 95
Table 6.3. Performance summary of the proposed BFSK/OOK transmitter and comparison to state-
of-the-art

List of Figures

Fig. 1.1. Power distribution in the 2.4 GHz PLL-based transmitter reported in [6]2
Fig. 1.2. Typical (a) direct-conversion and (b) direct-modulation transmitter structures
Fig. 1.3. The structure of a typical PLL
Fig. 1.4. Power budget of the blocks in a PLL [17]7
Fig. 2.1. Typical structure of an LC oscillator
Fig. 2.2. Typical structures of (a) common-gate Colpitts oscillator, (b) cross-coupled oscillator and
(c) complementary cross-coupled oscillator 10
Fig. 2.3. Typical structures of (a) five-stage single-ended ring oscillator and (b) four-stage
differential ring oscillator
Fig. 2.4. Typical plot of the phase noise of an oscillator versus frequency offset from carrier 14
Fig. 2.5. Typical structures with noise-current injection source, $i_n(t)$, shown at a node, waveforms
and impulse sensitivity functions of (a) an LC oscillator and (b) a ring oscillator [19] 15
Fig. 2.6. Bit error rate (BER) of 2-FSK system with 500 kHz frequency shift for different data
rates and carrier phase noise levels
Fig. 2.7. Simulated phase noise of 1 GHz signals, at 1 MHz offset from generalized structures of
a single-ended, 5-stage ring oscillator and a single-ended Colpitts oscillator for different core
power consumptions from 1.2 V supply
Fig. 2.8. Simplified structure of the developed GB-LC VCO topology
Fig. 2.9. Simulated phase noise of 1 GHz signals, at 1 MHz offset from generalized structures of
a single-ended, 5-stage ring oscillator, a single-ended Colpitts oscillator and a GB-LC oscillator
for different core power consumptions from 1.2 V supply

Fig. 2.10. Simulated supply sensitivity of generalized structures of a single-ended, 5-stage ring
oscillator and a GB-LC oscillator, running at 1 GHz, using a 1.2 V supply
Fig. 2.11. (a) Derivation of core structure of the proposed VCO and (b) frequency of oscillation.
Fig. 2.12. Detailed schematic of the gain-boosted LC VCO
Fig. 2.13. AC equivalent circuits of the A-cell (a) and LC tank (b) for estimating oscillating
frequency with phase-balance equation
Fig. 2.14. Small-signal equivalent circuit of the GB-LC oscillator core
Fig. 2.15. Normalized waveforms of the GB-LC oscillator in post-layout simulation
Fig. 2.16. Simulated (pre-layout) phase noise of the proposed GB-LC VCO at different power
consumptions. Phase noise can be predicted using Leeson's model with $F = 5$. Device sizes are
scaled for different bias currents. Two different structures of the VCO are simulated - one where
the A-cell and the Gm-cell have equal bias current and device sizes and another where the Gm-
cell has half the bias current and device sizes as the A-cell
Fig. 2.17. Microphotograph of the fabricated GB-LC VCO in a bare die. The core occupies
$360 \times 340 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ chip area. The bias circuit occupies $245 \times 345 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ chip area
Fig. 2.18. Measured output spectra of the the BFSK GB-LC VCO showing about 550 kHz
frequency shift around 914.5 MHz center frequency
Fig. 2.19. Phase noise spectrum of the GB-LC VCO output tuned to 914.5 MHz. Phase noise
is -97.9 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset and rms jitter is 5.723 ps measured over 100 kHz-1 MHz
bandwidth

Fig. 2.20. Constellation diagram and FSK error results of the GB-LC VCO output. The oscillator
is tuned to 914.5 MHz and is 2-FSK modulated with a 100 kHz, 50% square wave simulating
'01010101' bitstream at 200 kbps rate. RMS FSK error is about 11.5%
Fig. 2.21. Tuning range of the GB-LC VCO. The digital tuning system has a range of 80 MHz
which is sufficient to cover for process variations and the analog tuning range varies from
22.5 MHz to 30.2 MHz, corresponding to digital tuning code '0' to code '8'
Fig. 3.1. Topology of the commonly used Pulse Swallow frequency divider [39] 40
Fig. 3.2. (a) A TSPC-based divide-by-2/3 prescaler reported in [39] and (b) TSPC and (c) E-TSPC
flip-flops
Fig. 3.3. Miller-type model for injection-locked frequency divider [45]
Fig. 3.4. (a) Ultra-low-power divide-by-5 ILFD reported in [49] and (b) analytical model for one
stage of the ILFD
Fig. 3.5. Overview of state-of-the-art prescalers along with the hybrid frequency divider
Fig. 3.6. Topology of the divide-by-4/5 hybrid frequency divider for this work
Fig. 3.7. (a) Divide-by-5 and (b) divide-by-4 operations of the designed divider. The arrows
indicate propagated transitions controlled by input signal
Fig. 3.8. Two stages of the ring structure of proposed divider showing the situation where
sub-threshold leakage limits the low frequency operation
Fig. 3.9. Critical portion of divider for maximum locking frequency and phase noise estimation.
Fig. 3.10. Microphotograph of the fabricated dual-modulus divider
Fig. 3.11. Output spectrum of the divider at ÷5 mode locked by 400 MHz input frequency 58

Fig. 3.12. Phase noise spectra of divider output in ÷4 mode, locked by 1.3 GHz and 400 MHz input
frequencies. The dashed curve shows the base phase noise of the signal analyzer
Fig. 3.13. Power consumption of the dual-modulus hybrid divider across locking range and a
comparative overview with the state-of-the-art
Fig. 4.1. General power amplifier model
Fig. 4.2. Bias points of Class A, AB, B and C power amplifiers
Fig. 4.3. A voltage-mode Class D power amplifier [68]
Fig. 4.4. Schematic of low-power power amplifier with OOK modulation, used in this work 67
Fig. 4.5. Pi network for impedance transformation
Fig. 4.6. PA output matching network with non-idealities
Fig. 4.7. Impedance transformation simulation with non-idealities, including short PCB trace
between PA output and off-chip matching network using ADS70
Fig. 5.1. Topology of the proposed low-power 915 MHz transmitter
Fig. 5.2. Variation of tuning gain of the fabricated GB-LC described in Section 2.5.3
Fig. 5.3. Bode plot of open-loop gain of the 3 rd order PLL in Fig. 5.1
Fig. 5.4. Variation in phase margin of PLL due to variation of VCO gain
Fig. 5.5. The structure of the tuning limiter block introduced between the LF and the VCO in the
PLL
Fig. 5.6. (a) The tuning varactor, C_{tune} , is moved from the tank node to the A-cell input to reduce
variation of <i>K</i> vco. (b) C-V characteristic curve of the varactor (NMOS in N-well)
Fig. 5.7. Reduced <i>K</i> _{VCO} variation due to new placement of the tuning capacitor
Fig. 5.9. Schematic of Pierce crystal oscillator for generating reference frequency for PLL 81
Fig. 6.1. Layout of the 3 rd order PLL in the first phase of proposed transmitter implementation.83

Fig. 6.2. Test setup for the 3 rd order PLL in the first phase
Fig. 6.3. Spectrum of unmodulated 915 MHz carrier generated by the PLL
Fig. 6.4. VCO signal divided down to 1 MHz and CP-LF generated control voltage
Fig. 6.5. Overlaid phase noise spectra of the VCO and PLL. This shows 10 kHz PLL bandwidth
and unsuppressed phase noise of -87.93 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset
Fig. 6.6. Constellation and statistical error results of FSK modulated carrier at (a) 100 kbps and
(b) 400 kbps data rate. The data is simulated by a square wave a from function generator
Fig. 6.7. Microphotograph of the transmitter die
Fig. 6.8. Test setup for the transmitter
Fig. 6.9. (a) Previous layout of the output wiring of GB-LC's digitizing output buffer. (b) New
layout showing the adjustments done to reduce the extra power consumption for driving the RF
test buffer
Fig. 6.10. Spectrum of unmodulated 925 MHz carrier signal, with PA at maximum output
power, -18.6 dBm
Fig. 6.11. Overlaid phase noise spectra of the PLL and the free-running VCO. Phase noise of PLL
is -100.2 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset
Fig. 6.12. Constellation diagram and BFSK error results of the transmitter with continuous
'01010101' bitstream at 3 Mbps speed with 250 kHz deviation. RMS FSK error is about 11%. 92
Fig. 6.13. Two bytes from a pseudo-random data (Manchester encoded) set transmitted and
received at 400 kbps speed through FSK modulation system. Data is sampled at 4 MHz by the
receiver
Fig. 6.14. 925 MHz carrier OOK-modulated by continuous '01010101' bitstream at 20 Mbps speed.
94

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Motivation

The semiconductor industry has progressed significantly in recent years and allowed consistent improvement of wireless chipsets in terms of functionality, cost, form factor and power consumption. This has enabled a broad range of new short-range, low-power applications, such as wireless sensors. Applications for these sensors include military use, such as target tracking, equipment monitoring in industrial sectors, and medical use, such as patient monitoring. These sensors are typically remotely deployed to gather data and relay them to the end-user or base station and rely on small batteries or harvested energy for power supply. Often because of their locations, battery replacement is not desirable or even feasible. Wireless devices are also used in animal tracking systems such as small bird flight recorders that require payloads less than one gram [1]. High power consumption in these devices is problematic because it will reduce battery life or increase system weight, which is dominated by battery weight. As such, energy efficiency is one of the most important factors in the design of these sensors so that sensor lifetimes in the order of months to years can be ensured without any maintenance.

Among all the functions of wireless sensors, communication usually requires most of the power and so, it is important to have an energy-efficient transmitter. In typical wireless sensor networks, transmission range is below 10 m and required radiated power is less than 1 mW [2]. For example, MICS (Medical Implant Communication Service, 402–405 MHz) band compatible devices must transmit no greater than 25 μ W of power [3]. At such low radiated power, the power consumption of the transmitter is no longer dominated by the power amplifier. The power consumed by the circuits prior to the power amplifier (PA) becomes significant and degrades the

transmitter efficiency substantially. Transmitter efficiency is defined as the ratio of transmitted power to the power consumed by the transmitter. For example, in the MICS compatible transceiver reported in [4], a 400 μ W direct-modulation FSK transmitter uses a digitally controlled LC oscillator as a pre-PA frequency synthesizer which consumes 210 μ W power, resulting in an efficiency of only 6.25% at -16 dBm output power. Another 2.4 GHz CMOS transceiver reported in [5] uses a direct-conversion transmitter where a fractional-N phase-locked loop (PLL) consumes 9.72 mW out of the total 23.58 mW power consumption of the whole transmitter at 0 dBm transmitted power. This results in only 4.2% transmitter efficiency. Thus, at low transmitted power, a very low pre-PA power is essential as well as high PA efficiency for an efficient ultra-low-power transmitter.

The frequency synthesizer is one of the key pre-PA building blocks in any transmitter architecture. As this generates RF (radio frequency) carrier signals, this is usually one of the most power-hungry pre-PA blocks. For example, the phase-locked-loop-based frequency synthesizer used in the 2.4 GHz transmitter reported in [6] is the largest power consuming block in the system, as shown in Fig. 1.1.



Fig. 1.1. Power distribution in the 2.4 GHz PLL-based transmitter reported in [6].

Both direct-modulation and direct-conversion type transmitters need a local frequency synthesizer. Fig. 1.2 shows the typical structures of direct-conversion and direct-modulation transmitters. A direct-conversion transmitter uses an up-conversion mixer circuit to generate a modulated carrier signal from the synthesizer and baseband data signal. While this architecture is well-suited for multi-standard operation and supports complex modulation schemes, they are usually not energy-efficient due to power-hungry mixer circuits [5] [7] [8]. Direct-modulation transmitter, on the other hand, is a more favored architecture for low-power transmitters because here baseband data directly modulates the carrier generated from the local frequency synthesizer. Thus, it eliminates the need for mixers and complex DAC circuits. As data-rate requirements of wireless sensor networks are usually low, spectral efficiency is traded off for power efficiency so that simple modulation schemes, such as on-off keying (OOK) or frequency-shift keying (FSK),



Fig. 1.2. Typical (a) direct-conversion and (b) direct-modulation transmitter structures.

can be used. Direct-modulation transmitters, such as [9] and [10], use unlocked oscillators, discarding any extra circuitry used to stabilize the frequency. This topology normally can achieve high data-rate and consumes relatively lower pre-PA power than other topologies. However, since there is no feedback loop for frequency stability, unlocked oscillators consume high amount of power to achieve improved close-in phase noise performance. In practice, this open-loop topology requires periodic relocking or calibration of the oscillator frequency to counter frequency drift due to voltage and temperature variations, thus making continuous operation difficult [6]. Recently, a new direct-modulation topology is reported in [11]. Here a low frequency local oscillator is used, injection-locked to a crystal oscillator of same frequency to improve signal quality and then a frequency-multiplying power amplifier is used to up-convert the frequency. The transmitter consumes only 90 µW power while operating at MICS band, which makes it very suitable for ultra-low-power wireless sensors, but the topology offers little or no on-chip frequency-tuning, thus no channel selection and its operation at MICS band or 433 MHz ISM (Industrial, Scientific and Medical) band is dependent on the external crystal used. Other direct-modulation transmitters based on injection-locked oscillators or MEMS resonators, such as [12], are also reported. Although these transmitters achieve good signal quality at considerably low power, they have the same problem of limited or no on-chip frequency selection as the frequency is directly locked to external reference frequency or determined by the external resonator.

PLLs are also widely used for radio frequency synthesis. PLL-based frequency synthesis usually offers improved communication quality by locking the VCO frequency to a clean reference frequency, derived from a low-frequency crystal oscillator. They also offer superior flexibility of frequency selection as they can be varied by programming the feedback loop. Of the many known PLL architectures [13] [14], the most widely used is the classical PLL architecture [6] [15] [16],



Fig. 1.3. The structure of a typical PLL.

which is simple in structure. Fig. 1.3 shows the structure of this type of PLL which consists of the following blocks: a phase-frequency detector (PFD), a charge pump (CP), a loop filter (LF), a voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO) and a divide-by-N frequency divider (FD). The PFD block determines the phase error between the reference frequency and VCO frequency divided down by FD and CP-LF combination translates this error to an analog voltage signal to tune the VCO frequency so the phase error is removed. This feedback acts as high-pass filter for the VCO phase noise, suppressing close-in phase noise and thus improves VCO signal quality. The FD block has a low-power analog frequency divider or prescaler at the front-end, which is followed by a programmable digital divider. The division ratio of the FD can be programmed and thus the frequency synthesizer can be tuned to different channels. The tuning resolution depends on the reference frequency and prescaler ratio.

As the VCO and the prescaler blocks operate in full radio frequency in a PLL, these two are the most power-hungry blocks in any PLL [17] and together can consume about 80% of the total power in a PLL, as shown in Fig. 1.4. This is the disadvantage of a PLL-based transmitter compared to the other direct-modulation transmitters mentioned above, as they only use the oscillator and discard the rest of the PLL to reduce power consumption. As a result, much less investigation is done on PLL-based transmitters with μ W-range power consumption. Instead, research in this area is recently more focused on unlocked or injection-locked direct-modulation transmitters, sacrificing either the tuning flexibility or the improved noise tolerance and frequency stability of PLL-based architecture. A brief overview of the state-of-the-art is shown in Table 1.1.

1.2 Research Goal

The goal of this research is to explore the prospect of PLL-based architecture for ultra-lowpower transmitters, which can be used for implantable wireless sensors where power consumption is constrained in order to reduce maintenance and battery-bulk weight. High power efficiency can be achieved by minimizing the power consumption of the VCO and the prescaler blocks in a PLL.

In this work, an ultra-low-power PLL-based transmitter is proposed. The classical structure for a 3rd order PLL is used for simplicity. The PLL's power consumption is minimized by developing new topologies of the VCO and the prescaler, thus reducing the pre-PA power consumption of the transmitter. The transmitter operates in the 902 – 928 MHz (915 MHz) ISM band. Binary frequency-shift keying (BFSK) and on-off keying (OOK) modulation schemes are adopted where the baseband data directly modulates the carrier generated by the PLL.



Fig. 1.4. Power budget of the blocks in a PLL [17].

Table 1.1. Brief overview of power consumption and efficiency of state-of-the-art transmitter architectures.

	Topology	CMOS Tech. (nm)	Freq.	Modulation, Data-rate	Pre-PA power	PA power	Output power (dBm)	Efficiency
[8]	Direct- conversion	180	2.4 GHz	IEEE 802.15.4	8.88 mW		-1.72	7.6%
[18]	Direct- modulation 90 M		915 MHz	2-tone BPSK	300 μW	2.35 mW	0	37.7%
[4]	Direct- modulation	180	400 MHz	BFSK, 250 kbps	210 μW	189 μW	-16	6.3%
[11]	Direct- modulation *	130	400 MHz	BFSK, 200 kbps	90 μW		-17	22.2%
[6]	PLL-based	180	2.4 GHz	BFSK, 200 kbps	8.82 mW	3.6 mW	0	8%

* Cascaded multi-phase injection-locking and frequency multiplication.

1.3 Dissertation Overview

The remaining chapters of this proposal will cover the different steps of design of the 3rd-order PLL-based FSK/OOK transmitter. Chapters 2 and 3 describe the design and analysis of the VCO and the prescaler topologies developed in the work, respectively. Chapter 4 introduces the proposed PLL using these two blocks along with necessary design considerations. In Chapter 5, a power amplifier suitable for this low-power transmitter is discussed. The full transmitter is fabricated and its measured performances are presented and compared to the state-of-the-art in Chapter 6. Chapter 7 concludes this dissertation and proposes potential future works.

Chapter 2 Low-Power Voltage-Controlled Oscillator

The VCO is one of the key components in a frequency synthesizer as it most critically determines the performance of the synthesizer. Recently, increasing demand for lower cost and higher integration has led to continuous study and research to enhance CMOS integrated VCO performance. As stated earlier, the VCO is the most power-hungry block in a PLL frequency synthesizer. As the demand for low-power operation increases, it poses an increasing challenge for the VCO's noise performance, particularly phase noise and supply noise tolerance. As the spectral purity of the synthesized signal heavily depends on the quality of the VCO signal, substantial research has been conducted on the two types of VCO topologies – LC resonance oscillator and Ring oscillator, to improve their noise performance.

2.1 LC Oscillator

Fig. 2.1 shows the typical structure of an LC oscillator. R_P is the equivalent parallel tank resistance, which includes the series resistance of L and C and represents the loss or finite quality factor, Q of the tank. Oscillation occurs when the positive feedback loops meets the Barkhausen criteria for oscillation (unity gain with an integer multiple of 360° phase shift around the loop) at the resonance frequency of the LC tank, $f_{osc} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}}$.



Fig. 2.1. Typical structure of an LC oscillator.

To meet the gain requirement, an active G_m -cell is used which injects charge that is dissipated by R_P in each cycle. The G_m -cell has the voltage-to-current gain, g_m , such that at equilibrium, $g_m R_p = 1$. For oscillation startup, g_m should be greater than $\frac{1}{R_p}$. This sets the lower limit of power consumption of the LC oscillator and is determined by R_P , and thus, tank Q.

Fig. 2.2 shows typical structures of the three conventional LC oscillators. The Colpitts oscillator uses common-gate topology because of 0° drain-to-source phase shift. Thus, it achieves 0° phase shift around the loop for oscillation at the resonance frequency, $f_{osc} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{1}{L\left(\frac{C_1C_2}{C_1+C_2}\right)}}$. For

oscillation startup, the following requirement should be met.

$$g_{m1}R_P \ge \frac{C_1}{C_2} + \frac{C_2}{C_1} + 2 \tag{1}$$



Fig. 2.2. Typical structures of (a) common-gate Colpitts oscillator, (b) cross-coupled oscillator and (c) complementary cross-coupled oscillator.

From (1), the minimum required value of g_m of M₁ will be when $C_1 = C_2$ and in this case $g_{m1} \ge \frac{4}{R_p}.$

The cross-coupled has a pair of cross-coupled NMOSs and an LC tank to contain the latchup (0° phase shift) only at the resonant frequency, $f_{osc} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}}$. The startup condition of this oscillator is $g_m \ge \frac{2}{R_p}$. By using varactors instead of the capacitors and varying V_{ctrl} , the oscillation frequency can be varied.

The complementary cross-coupled oscillator uses a pair of cross-coupled inverters instead of a cross-coupled NMOS pair to relax the startup requirement, such that $(g_{mn} + g_{mp}) \ge \frac{2}{R_p}$.

2.2 Ring Oscillator

A ring oscillator consists of several active gain stages or delay cells in a loop. The structures of two basic ring oscillator topologies are shown in Fig. 2.3. Single-ended structures need an odd



Fig. 2.3. Typical structures of (a) five-stage single-ended ring oscillator and (b) four-stage differential ring oscillator.

number of stages whereas differential ring oscillators can operate with both even and odd number of stages.

A single-ended oscillator can consist of an odd number of CMOS inverters. This results in a net 180° phase shift around the loop due to inversions which prevents the loop from a latch-up at DC. As Barkhausen criteria dictates, the output poles of the stages must provide another 180° phase shift for oscillation to occur. For example, in a 3-stage ring oscillator, each stage can be described

as $-\frac{A}{1+\frac{s}{\omega_{3dB}}}$, where A is the low-frequency gain and ω_{3dB} is the 3dB bandwidth. Thus, the loop

transfer function would be

$$H(s) = -\frac{A^3}{\left(1 + \frac{s}{\omega_{3dB}}\right)^3}.$$
(2)

The circuit will only oscillate at a frequency f_{osc} if each stage provides 60° frequencydependent phase shift, totaling to 180°. Thus, $\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\omega_{osc}}{\omega_{3dB}}\right) = 60^\circ$. Hence,

$$\omega_{osc} = \sqrt{3}\omega_{3dB} \tag{3}$$

Barkhausen criteria dictates that the magnitude of the loop gain should be unity. Therefore, from (2) we get,

$$\frac{A^3}{\left(\sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\omega_{osc}}{\omega_{3dB}}\right)^2}\right)^3} = 1.$$
(4)

Combining (3) and (4), we get A = 2 which means a 3-stage ring oscillator would require a DC gain greater than 2 per stage for oscillation startup. Another expression for a ring oscillator's oscillation frequency is $f_{osc} = 2Nt_d$, where N is the number of stages and t_d is the propagation delay of each stage.

2.3 LC Oscillator vs. Ring Oscillator

2.3.1 Frequency Stability

An ideal oscillator would have an output expressed as $A\cos(\omega_o t + \varphi)$ with fixed amplitude A, frequency ω_0 and a fixed phased reference ϕ . However, due to various device noise sources in the circuit, the output would have amplitude and phase fluctuations and more generally expressed as $A(t) f [\omega_0 t + \varphi(t)]$, where the amplitude and phase are now functions of time and f is a periodic function with period 2π . The spectrum of this signal has sidebands close to oscillation frequency ω_0 instead of being just two impulses at $\pm \omega_0$.

These short-term instabilities of the signal are usually characterized in terms of the singlesideband noise spectral density [19]. The unit is decibels below the carrier per hertz (dBc/Hz) and is defined as

$$L_{total} \left\{ \Delta \omega \right\} = 10 \log \left[\frac{P_{sideband} \left(\omega_o + \Delta \omega, 1 Hz \right)}{P_{carrier}} \right]$$

Here $P_{sideband} (\omega_o + \Delta \omega, 1 Hz)$ represents the single sideband power at $\Delta \omega$ frequency offset from carrier frequency ω_o with 1 Hz measurement bandwidth. This includes both fluctuations, A(t)and $\phi(t)$. Usually, the amplitude fluctuation is reduced by some amplitude limiting mechanism in the oscillator circuit and $L_{total} \{\Delta \omega\}$ is dominated by its phase portion, which is known as phase noise, denoted by $L\{\Delta \omega\}$.



Fig. 2.4. Typical plot of the phase noise of an oscillator versus frequency offset from carrier.

Fig. 2.4 shows the typical phase noise plot of a free-running oscillator. The corner frequency, ω_{l/f^3} , between $1/f^3$ and $1/f^2$ regions of the plot is derived from device flicker noise corner. If the VCO is integrated into a PLL, the PLL will act as a high-pass filter for the VCO phase noise and suppress most of the close-in phase noise, given enough bandwidth. Beyond PLL's bandwidth, VCO's phase noise will not be suppressed and the VCO needs to be noise-immune and with low intrinsic noise to achieve good performance.

For an LC oscillator, phase noise in the $1/f^2$ region of the spectrum can be expressed as [19] [20], based on Leeson's equation,

$$L\{\Delta\omega\} = 10\log\left[\frac{FkT}{Q^2} \cdot \frac{R_P}{V_P^2} \cdot \left(\frac{f_o}{\Delta f}\right)^2\right].$$
(5)

Here *F* is device excess noise number, an empirical parameter, *k* is Boltzmann's constant, *T* is the absolute temperature, V_P is the voltage swing and *Q* is the effective quality factor of the tank with all loads accounted for. From (5), it is seen that phase noise is dependent on the *Q* of the circuit and the voltage swing and improves if these two increases. In an oscillator with large Q, the required instantaneous change in frequency to compensate any phase shift due to various noise sources is smaller. This results in better frequency stability. For a fully integrated LC VCO, the low-Q on-chip inductor often dominates the tank Q. LC VCOs using high-Q, off-chip inductors [18] [21] or bondwire inductors [22] are reported. In a ring oscillator, however, Q (defined as ratio of energy stored to energy dissipated in each cycle or 2π radian) is very low and thus, it is prone to higher phase noise.

Phase noise in the $1/f^2$ region [19] is also described by the following equation.

$$L\{\Delta\omega\} = 10\log\left[\frac{\Gamma_{rms}^{2}}{q_{max}^{2}} \cdot \frac{\overline{i_{n}^{2}}/\Delta f}{4\cdot (\Delta\omega)^{2}}\right]$$
(6)

Here q_{max} is the maximum charge displacement across the capacitor on the node under consideration. $\Gamma(\omega t)$ is the known as the impulse sensitivity function (ISF), which is shown in Fig. 2.5 for generic structures of LC and ring oscillators. This is a dimensionless, frequency and



Fig. 2.5. Typical structures with noise-current injection source, $i_n(t)$, shown at a node, waveforms and impulse sensitivity functions of (a) an LC oscillator and (b) a ring oscillator [19].

amplitude-independent periodic function with period 2π which describes how much phase shift results from a unit current impulse at a given time t. $\overline{i_n^2}/\Delta f$ represents noise current power injected from various noise sources at the node under consideration. It can be understood from the ISF curves shown in Fig. 2.5 that an oscillator's phase is most sensitive to noise near the transition of its waveform and least at the peaks.

LC oscillators generally have better phase noise performance than ring oscillators at the same power consumptions [23]. From (6), this can be understood more clearly. In a ring oscillator, device noise current is maximum during the transition (both PMOS and NMOS being "on" in transition) where the sensitivity, and hence ISF, is also the largest [19]. Also, a ring oscillator stores a certain amount of energy in the load capacitors every cycle and dissipates all of it in the same cycle. On the other hand, an LC resonator dissipates only $2\pi/Q$ of the total energy in one cycle. Thus, for a given power consumption, q_{max} is much smaller for a ring oscillator than an LC oscillator. In other words, a ring oscillator would consume much larger power than an LC oscillator to achieve same phase noise performance. For example, the ring oscillator in [24], while operating at 685 MHz frequency, achieves -110.8 dBc/Hz phase noise at 1 MHz offset with 10 mW power consumption. On the opposite side, the LC oscillator in [25], while operating at 915 MHz frequency, shows -126 dBc/Hz phase noise at 1 MHz offset with 1.06 mW power consumption.

Power-supply noise is another large source of VCO noise. Because of higher Q, LC oscillators are usually much less sensitive than ring oscillators. LC oscillators are also more immune to CMOS PVT (process, voltage and temperature) variations than ring oscillators. The oscillation frequency of an LC oscillator is dominated by the LC tank resonance. On the other

hand, in the ring oscillator, as shown before, oscillation frequency is determined by individual delay-cell bandwidth which varies with PVT variations.

2.3.2 Power Consumption, Chip Area and Tuning Range

Despite superior frequency stability, LC oscillators have their own drawbacks. The on-chip inductors consume large area. Minimization of power consumption necessitates a large inductor, leading to large R_p ($\approx 2\pi f_{osc}LQ$). This is in conflict with large tuning range, as for a given frequency, a large inductor limits the size of the variable tank capacitance. Also, low-phase-noise design of LC oscillators has the following challenges [20]:

- Switched capacitor arrays are widely used to achieve wide tuning range. Wide (low-resistance) MOS switches, needed for low phase noise, add parasitic capacitances in series with the switched capacitors, limiting the tuning range.
- 2) With CMOS scaling, supply voltage is also reduced, resulting in reduced maximum voltage swing across the LC tank. Usually, phase noise is improved by scaling down the inductor to reduce *R*_P. This also increases power consumption. Here, wide tuning range necessitates large capacitor arrays where interconnections introduce significant low-Q inductance, making it difficult to achieve low phase noise.
- 3) Minimization of power consumption necessitates a large inductor, leading to large $R_P \ (\approx 2\pi f_{osc}LQ)$. This is in contrast with large tuning range performance, as for a given frequency, a large inductor limits the size of the variable tank capacitance [25]. Also, since R_P scales down with frequency, a wide-tuning-range oscillator must be provided enough start-up power at the low end of the tuning range and will exhibit a bias current excess as the frequency increases.
Ring oscillators, since they do not require any inductor, occupy very small die area and thus, are highly integrable. They also can achieve wide tuning range using simple mechanisms to tune delay-cell bandwidth. This is very useful to counter PVT variations. With several high-gain stages in the loop, ring oscillators easily meet the Barkhausen criteria at very low power consumption, whereas LC oscillators are hard-limited in lowering startup power. For example, the self-calibrated ring oscillator in [26] operates at 1.38 GHz frequency with only 46 μ W power consumption.

2.4 Phase Noise – Power Tradeoff for Low-data-rate Communication Systems

As discussed in the previous section, ring oscillators require much less startup power than LC oscillators, but they have poorer phase noise performance and PVT-variation. Therefore, substantial research has been conducted on improving frequency stability of ring oscillators [26] [27] [28] [29] [30] at the cost of higher power consumption or added complex circuitry.

However, it can be shown that simple modulation systems require only modest frequency stability and low-data-rate digital modulation systems are able to tolerate higher phase noise than that in most of the recently published VCOs. Fig. 2.6 shows bit error rates (BER) for different oscillator phase noise levels and data-rates for a 2-FSK modulated system with 500 kHz frequency shift. This plot is obtained using the MATLAB communication toolbox. It shows that a 200 kbps 2-FSK system yields a BER of only 5.5 ppm with carrier phase noise as high as -80 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset. BER increases with data rate. This shows that for simple low-data-rate systems, phase noise of the VCO can be compromised as a trade-off for low power consumption.

Fig. 2.7 shows simulated phase noise at 1 MHz offset of 1 GHz signals generated by simplified structures of a single-ended Colpitts oscillator and a single-ended, 5-stage ring oscillator.



Fig. 2.6. Bit error rate (BER) of 2-FSK system with 500 kHz frequency shift for different data rates and carrier phase noise levels.



Fig. 2.7. Simulated phase noise of 1 GHz signals, at 1 MHz offset from generalized structures of a single-ended, 5-stage ring oscillator and a single-ended Colpitts oscillator for different core power consumptions from 1.2 V supply.

It is to be noted that the simulations are performed in pre-layout and therefore, the degradation of phase noise by parasitic elements is not accounted for. It is clear that there is an intermediate area between LC and ring oscillators where moderate phase noise can be considered as a tradeoff for low-power operation.

2.5 Gain-Boosted LC Oscillator



Fig. 2.8. Simplified structure of the developed GB-LC VCO topology.

A possible solution for designing low-power high-quality VCOs is to design an LC oscillator with boosted g_m so that reduced startup power can be achieved while still retaining LC's frequency stability to some extent. Efforts on such g_m -boosting have been reported in literature. For example in [31], a conventional Colpitts oscillator is converted into a differential structure and g_m is boosted by the passive gain from capacitive dividers in the tank. However, the boosting factor is limited by its dependence on the tank capacitor ratio which also affects the startup criteria in a Colpitts oscillator.

In this work, a novel single-ended LC VCO topology is developed that fills the previously mentioned gap between high-power LC oscillator and high-noise ring oscillator. Fig. 2.8 shows a

simplified structure of this gain-boosted LC (GB-LC) VCO. This VCO is a combination of a conventional common-source LC oscillator and an active gain cell from single-ended ring oscillators. This hybrid structure offers frequency stability superior to a ring oscillator, while the gain cell introduced provides high active gain to boost the g_m greatly. In this way, Barkhausen criteria can be met with much lower startup power, although this approach degrades noise performance to some extent, compared to conventional LC VCOs.

Fig. 2.9 shows a comparison between simulated phase noises of 1 GHz signals, at 1 MHz offset, generated by simplified structures of a single-ended Colpitts oscillator, a single-ended current-starved ring oscillator and the proposed GB-LC oscillator for different power consumptions from 1.2 V supply. The GB-LC oscillator, with its moderate phase noise and low startup criteria, sits between the high-noise, low-power ring oscillator and low-noise LC oscillator whose power consumption reduction is limited by startup criteria. Fig. 2.10 shows simulated supply sensitivity of a single-ended, 5-stage ring oscillator and a GB-LC oscillator of the same structure in Fig. 2.9. Again, the GB-LC structure shows much better supply sensitivity than ring oscillators. These simulations do not count the effect of parasitics, which the ring oscillator is much more sensitive to. On the other hand, the GB-LC oscillator has the inherent stability of the LC oscillators, but it is somewhat degraded due to the phase delay of the gain-cell. Moreover, if an SNR degradation of 10 dB in the transmission path is assumed, considering Fig. 2.6, a 50 µW GB-LC would still have BER below 1 ppm at 1 Mbps data-rate. In the same case, a 60 µW ring oscillator would yield a BER of 10000 ppm.

Detailed description, analysis and measured performances of the GB-LC developed in this work are discussed in the following sub-sections.



Fig. 2.9. Simulated phase noise of 1 GHz signals, at 1 MHz offset from generalized structures of a single-ended, 5-stage ring oscillator, a single-ended Colpitts oscillator and a GB-LC oscillator for different core power consumptions from 1.2 V supply.



Fig. 2.10. Simulated supply sensitivity of generalized structures of a single-ended, 5-stage ring oscillator and a GB-LC oscillator, running at 1 GHz, using a 1.2 V supply.

2.5.1 Architecture and Operation

2.5.1.1 Core Structure



Fig. 2.11. (a) Derivation of core structure of the proposed VCO and (b) frequency of oscillation.

The derivation of the core structure of the proposed GB-LC VCO is shown in Fig. 2.11. The gain cell is introduced in the loop to boost a smaller g_m which can be achieved with lower startup power. Also, the gain cell, driving only the gate capacitance of the g_m device, can achieve the desired boosting gain with much lower power consumption. Thus reduction of total power consumption, compared to conventional LC oscillator, can be achieved. Large reduction of power consumption is possible by bringing the bandwidth of the gain-block close to the desired frequency of oscillation. However, the phase delay of the gain-block will cause oscillation to occur at a frequency offset from tank resonance where the tank will be slightly inductive and provide necessary phase lead to counter the delay. This offset will be determined by the tank's Q and the bandwidth of the gain-block. Optimum power reduction will be achieved when the oscillation frequency will settle in the steep portion of tank-phase curve where frequency sensitivity to noise is the least.

A detailed schematic of the proposed oscillator is provided in Fig. 2.12. The core structure consists of a "G_m-cell" and a gain block "A-cell". A-cell is self-biased with a large resistor RF at its threshold point where it provides maximum gain. The G_m-cell is DC-coupled with A-cell and they have the equal device-size and bias currents to have the same threshold point. The tail current sources have large capacitances at outputs to form low-pass filters for supply noise with very low corner frequency. C_c and C_2 decouples the two cells from inductor so it doesn't disrupt their bias conditions. The corner frequency from C_c and R_F should be much less than the oscillation frequency. A digital single-ended inverter chain operates as a buffer to convert the sinusoid voltage v_t to square waveform. The input capacitance of the buffer is small compared to tank capacitance and does not affect the core loop.



Fig. 2.12. Detailed schematic of the gain-boosted LC VCO.

2.5.1.2 G_m-cell Bias Stabilization

The PMOS side of the G_m-cell is starved and the discharge of this node through the unstarved NMOS side is stronger. This imbalance causes a non-linear *V-I* curve for the Gm-cell which causes increase in the DC tail current draw of this cell after oscillation starts. This increases the V_{DS} of M₇ and reduces DC average of $V_{0,Gm}$. This disrupts the bias condition of the G_m-cell, preventing sustained oscillation. To address this problem, M₅ is added, which is controlled by the DC average of $V_{0,Gm}$ and stabilizes $V_{0,Gm}$ by balancing the charging and discharging currents onto $V_{0,Gm}$. Thus the oscillation is sustained. The DC average is generated with a low-pass filter formed by a small capacitor and a single-stage differential amplifier, configured for unity-gain.

2.5.1.3 Tuning System

The GB-LC used in this work includes two tuning systems and a BFSK (Binary Frequency Shift Keying) modulation system. All three systems change the tank capacitance to change the tank resonance frequency and thus oscillation frequency is tuned.

The analog tuning system is a narrow-range one which is available for PLL to tune the GB-LC to correct phase error, relative to reference. The tuning gain, K_{VCO} (kHz/mV) is designed to be small to reduce the reference spurs, resulting from noise in reference frequency. It consists of a varactor (NMOS in N-well capacitor), C_{tune} connected to the tank. It is controlled by a rail-to-rail (0 – 1.2 V) input voltage, V_{tune} , with the highest frequency obtained when $V_{tune} = 0$ V. The frequency range of analog tuning, and hence sensitivity, is affected by the digital tuning configuration. C_{tune} is sized so the tuning range varies within 22.5 – 30.2 MHz, which almost covers the 915 MHz ISM band.

To counter process and supply variations, a wide-range digital tuning system is used along with the narrow-range analog tuning. It consists of 8 equal-sized capacitances controlled by a 4-bit word and provides a 9-step tuning. With tuning code '0', all the capacitors are switched off and oscillator frequency is highest. With codes '1' – '8', the corresponding number of capacitors is switched on and adds to the equivalent tank capacitance to lower oscillation frequency. This system provides a tuning range of about 80 MHz with the 902 – 928 MHz ISM band at center, which is sufficient to counter process variations.

The BFSK modulation system is similar to the digital tuning system. It consists of three small, equal, switched capacitors. These capacitors are switched, individually or in combination, with an FSK input. Each capacitor, when switched on, connects in parallel to the tank, reducing oscillation frequency by about 550 kHz. Combination of two or all three capacitors can be used to increase the shift to 1.2 MHz or 1.825 MHz, respectively.

2.5.2 Mathematical Analysis

2.5.2.1 Estimation of Oscillation Frequency

The GB-LC VCO would operate similar to a conventional negative- g_m oscillator at the LC tank resonance frequency provided that the A-cell has bandwidth much higher than the resonance frequency. In this case, the two cells will each provide 180° phase shift and total phase shift would be 360° around the loop. The gain cell's bias current can be varied to shift the tradeoff between power consumption and phase noise. To reduce the power consumption, the gain cell bandwidth is set close to the oscillation frequency. As a result, phase shift from the A-cell would be more than 180° and oscillation frequency will be slightly lower than resonance frequency where the tank will provide phase lead to cancel the extra phase delay. The frequency of oscillation can be thus



Fig. 2.13. AC equivalent circuits of the A-cell (a) and LC tank (b) for estimating oscillating frequency with phase-balance equation.

determined by estimating the phase lead and lag from the tank and A-cell respectively. AC equivalent circuits of these two parts are shown in Fig. 2.13. For simplicity, the 180° phase shifts of the two cells will be ignored as they cancel each other and only the excess phase will be calculated.

The phase delay of the A-cell can be determined from its transfer function, which is given by the following equations.

$$A = \frac{|A|}{1 + j \mathscr{A}_{o_{c}}} = \frac{|A|}{1 + j \omega R_{L} C_{L}}$$
$$|A| = (g_{m1} + g_{m2})(r_{o1} || r_{o2})$$
$$R_{L} = r_{o1} ||r_{o2}|| \left(\frac{R_{F}}{1 + \frac{1}{|A|}}\right)$$
(7)

$$C_{L} = C_{i,Gm} + \frac{C_{RF}}{2} + C_{dg,A} \left(1 + \frac{1}{|A|} \right)$$
(8)

Here $C_{i,gm}$ is the input capacitance of G_m-cell, C_{RF} is parasitic capacitance of polysilicon resistor R_F and $C_{dg,A}$ is the drain-gate capacitance of the A-cell. R_F is large enough to provide only DC feedback for the A-cell and no significant ac negative feedback. With the values of design parameters of the proposed oscillator, |A| and ω_c are calculated to 12.493 V/V and 7.5457 Grad/s. The phase delay of the A-cell is given by

$$\theta_A = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{\omega}{\omega_c} \right). \tag{9}$$

The output current of the G_m-cell, $i_{0,Gm}$ is in phase with $v_{0,A}$, neglecting the 180° phase shift. The phase lead in v_t from $i_{0,gm}$ or $v_{0,A}$ would be the phase angle of the LC network, θ_t . In the LC network, C_1 and C_2 are metal-to-metal capacitors and C_3 and R is given by the following equations.

$$C_{3} = C_{2,bot} + C_{c,bot} + C_{P} + C_{i,A} + \frac{C_{RF}}{2}$$

$$R = R_{P} \left\| \begin{pmatrix} R_{F} \\ 1 + |A| \end{pmatrix} \right\|$$
(10)

Here, $C_{2,bot}$ and $C_{c,bot}$ are bottom-plate capacitances off C_2 and C_c , C_P is the parasitic capacitance of inductor *L*, $C_{i,A}$ is the input capacitance of A-cell. R_P is the equivalent parallel tank resistance. Mid-band gain |A| is used in (7), (8) and (10) to simplify the analysis. v_t is given by the following equation.

$$v_{t} = i_{o,Gm} \cdot \frac{R \|sL\|_{sC_{3}}}{1 + \frac{C_{1}}{C_{2}} + sC_{1}(R \|sL\|_{sC_{3}})}$$
(11)

 θ_t can be determined from (11) as in the following expression.

$$\theta_t = \tan^{-1} \frac{R\left(1 - \omega^2 L C_{eff}\right)}{\omega L}$$
(12)

Here, $C_{eff} = C_3 + \frac{C_1 C_2}{C_1 + C_2}$. Oscillation will occur at a frequency where θ_1 and θ_A

balance each other so the total phase shift around the loop is zero.

$$\theta_t + \theta_A = 0 \tag{13}$$

Equation (13) may be referred to as the "Phase-balance equation". Using (9), (12) and (13), oscillation frequency, f_{osc} is given by

$$f_{osc} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{\omega_c R}{L\left(1 + \omega_c R C_{eff}\right)}}.$$
(14)

For this design, f_{osc} is calculated to be 1.154 GHz using (14), ignoring the added capacitors of the tuning systems. Simulation predicts oscillation at 1.126 GHz. The tuning capacitors with their parasitics will add to C_3 and with the tuning switched off, simulation predicts f_{osc} to be 948.5 GHz where θ_t is about 48°. The digital tuning system is then used to tune to the ISM band.

2.5.2.2 Criteria for Oscillation

A small-signal equivalent circuit of the oscillator core is shown in Fig. 2.14. The gain block represents the A-cell and the voltage-dependent current source represents the G_m -cell, where g_m is



Fig. 2.14. Small-signal equivalent circuit of the GB-LC oscillator core.

the sum of the g_{ms} of M₃ and M₄. To simplify analysis, the small-signal output resistance, r_{o} , of M₃ and M₄ is ignored.

The relationship between $i_{0,Gm}$ and v_t is given by (11) and $i_{0,Gm}$ is given by the following equation.

$$i_{o,Gm} = -Av_t g_m = \frac{|A|}{1 + sT_c} \cdot v_t g_m \tag{15}$$

Here $T_c = \frac{1}{\omega_c}$. Combining (11) and (15), the following expression is obtained.

$$\frac{|A|}{1+sT_c} \cdot v_t g_m \cdot \frac{R \|sL\|_{sC_3}}{1+\frac{C_1}{C_2}+sC_1(R\|sL\|_{sC_3})} = v_t$$
(16)

Assuming oscillation has begun, $v_t \neq 0$ and simplifying (16) leads to

$$s^{3}T_{c}LRC_{eff} + s^{2}L(T_{c} + RC_{eff}) + s(L + RT_{c} - |A|g_{m}LR\frac{C_{2}}{C_{1}+C_{2}}) + R = 0.$$
(17)

Equation (17) is the characteristic equation of the proposed GB-LC VCO. Using $s = j\omega$ then rearranging the real and imaginary terms of the equation leads to

$$R - \omega^{2}L(T_{c} + RC_{eff}) + j[\omega(L + RT_{c} - |A|g_{m}LR\frac{C_{2}}{C_{1}+C_{2}}) - \omega^{3}T_{c}LRC_{eff}] = 0.$$
(18)

Equating the real part of (18) to zero yields

$$\omega^2 = \frac{R}{L} \left(T_c + RC_{eff} \right)^{.}$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

Equation (19) gives the frequency of oscillation, which is same as (14).

Equating the imaginary part of (18) to zero and using (19), the condition for steady-state oscillation is derived.

$$g_{m}R = \left(1 + \left(\frac{f_{osc}}{f_{c}}\right)^{2}\right) \left(1 + \frac{C_{1}}{C_{2}}\right) \frac{1}{|A|}$$
(20)

Initially, for oscillation to start and grow, $g_m R$ needs to be greater than the right-hand side of (20). The following observations about g_m requirement can be made from (20):

- 1) Required g_m increases with the ratio of C_1 and C_2 . If C_2 is chosen much larger than C_1 , as in this design, this leaves g_m unaffected.
- 2) g_m can be reduced in proportion with increase in |A|.
- 3) g_m is also influenced by the high corner frequency of the A-cell. The larger the bandwidth, f_c , is relative to oscillation frequency, the lower g_m is required.

The second and third observations show how power consumption is reduced in the proposed GB-LC VCO. For example, if A-cell is designed with a |A| = 10 and $f_c = f_{osc}$, required g_m is 5 times lower than what would be required without the A-cell, thus allowing a much lower startup power than conventional LC oscillators. However, the A-cell would also require significant power. This is where total power consumption of the VCO can be optimized. The A-cell has a much smaller load capacitance than the G_m -cell driving the LC-tank and its bandwidth and gain are determined by its bias current. Thus, a large f_c can be achieved for the A-cell. With high power, the A-cell may have an f_c much higher than f_{osc} and its phase delay, θ_A would be very small and thus f_{osc} would be very close to tank resonance where frequency sensitivity to the device and supply noises are minimized. In this case, the proposed oscillator would have same noise tolerance as a conventional LC oscillator. This is shown in shown in Fig. 2.9, where the GB-LC curve coincides with the Colpitts curve. Trading off noise performance for lower power consumption, f_c can be chosen close to desired f_{osc} while θ_A is small enough for f_{osc} to still remain in the steep portion of the tank-phase curve, achieving acceptable noise tolerance. Thus total power consumption can be

optimized to be much lower than conventional LC oscillators with sufficiently low phase noise and supply sensitivity.

2.5.2.3 Phase Noise

It is known that one of the reasons LC oscillators have generally better phase noise performance than ring oscillators is that in a ring oscillator, charge injections onto a node occur during transitions of the driving delay cell [23]. This is when device noise is at a maximum and also when the sensitivity is highest as shown by the ISF in Fig. 2.5. In LC oscillators, for example in Colpitts, charge injection to the tank occurs at or near the voltage peak where the ISF is the lowest. As a result, device noise has a much smaller effect than in ring oscillators.

The proposed GB-LC oscillator's normalized waveforms are shown in Fig. 2.15. The G_m cell, driven by the almost square waveform output of A-cell, injects charge ($i_{0,Gm}$) into the LC tank and this injection is spread across a wide time-length around tank voltage (v_t) peak instead of in the form of a narrow pulse at the peak that is usual in LC oscillators. This means charge injection is occurring at times other than that which minimizes ISF. As a result, phase noise is degraded in this oscillator structure compared to LC oscillator. Compared to the ring oscillators (where the full 360° phase shift around the loop is contributed by noise-sensitive delay cells), in this hybrid oscillator, about 40-50° extra phase delay is provided by the single delay cell, which is corrected by the G_m-cell-tank combination to have a 0° or 360° around the loop. As a result, oscillation frequency is less sensitive to delay-cell noise in this hybrid structure.

Phase noise of this GB-LC VCO in the $1/f^2$ region can be predicted using the following form of widely used Leeson's equation [32] [19].

$$L\{\Delta\omega\} = 10\log\left[\frac{2FkT}{P_{sig}} \cdot \left(\frac{\omega_o}{2Q_{eff}\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right]$$
(21)

Here, k is Boltzmann's constant, T is absolute temperature, P_{sig} is the power of the output signal or signal at the tank node Q_{eff} is the effective quality factor of the LC tank, ω_0 is the oscillation frequency, $\Delta \omega$ is offset frequency. F is known as the device excess noise number, which is an *a posteriori* fitting parameter on measured data. Since oscillation frequency is offset from the tank resonance frequency in this structure, Q_{eff} will be lower than the loaded Q of the LC tank. Q_{eff} can be determined by the following equation [33].

$$Q_{eff} = \frac{\omega_o}{2} \left| \frac{d\phi}{d\omega} \right|$$

Here $\frac{d\phi}{d\omega}$ is the slope of the phase transfer function of the LC tank at the oscillation frequency. The value of *F* is chosen to be 5 based on post-layout simulation result of the proposed VCO. Fig. 2.16 shows simulated phase noises at 1 MHz offset frequencies of the GB-LC structure at different power consumptions. The device sizes are scaled as the power consumption is increased by increasing bias current. Pre-layout simulations are performed on two different GB-LC structures to verify the estimations from (21). In one structure, the A-cell and the Gm-cell has equal device sizes and bias current. In the other one, the Gm-cell is reduced to half of the A-cell in device sizes and bias current. Estimations of phase noise using (18) show only 2-3 dB errors from the simulated values. For the proposed GB-LC, phase noise at 1 MHz offset frequency is found to be -99.3 dBc/Hz using (21).



Fig. 2.15. Normalized waveforms of the GB-LC oscillator in post-layout simulation.



Fig. 2.16. Simulated (pre-layout) phase noise of the proposed GB-LC VCO at different power consumptions. Phase noise can be predicted using Leeson's model with F = 5. Two different structures of the VCO are simulated – one where the ratios of device sizes and bias currents between the A-cell and the Gm-cell are both 1:1 and another where the ratios are both 1:0.5.

2.5.3 Measured Performance

A GB-LC VCO has been implemented in a 0.13 μ m 1P8M CMOS process for testing. Fig. 2.17 shows the microphotograph of the fabricated oscillator. The core and the bias circuit occupies $360 \times 340 \ \mu$ m² and $245 \times 345 \ \mu$ m² areas, respectively. The on-chip inductor is 36.87 nH with $220 \times 220 \ \mu$ m² area with metal ground-shield.

To avoid the parasitic effects from packaging, chip-on-board bonding was used. The measurements were performed with Agilent N9010A EXA signal analyzer. The BFSK GB-LC's spectra are shown in Fig. 2.18, which shows 550 kHz frequency shift, operating at 914.5 MHz. With all three FSK inputs driven together, the measured shift increases to 1.825 MHz. The measured phase noise spectrum is provided in Fig. 2.19, showing -97.9 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset.



Fig. 2.17. Microphotograph of the fabricated GB-LC VCO in a bare die. The core occupies $360 \times 340 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ chip area. The bias circuit occupies $245 \times 345 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ chip area.

Fig. 2.20 shows the constellation diagram and error statistics of BFSK-modulated output of the GB-LC. The oscillator is modulated with a 100 kHz, 50% duty cycle square wave simulating a '01010101' bitstream at 200 kbps rate. The selected frequency shift is 550 kHz. The two clusters for two bits in the constellation diagram are well separated and rms FSK error is about 11.5% which is adequate for most low-cost wireless applications [7]. BER can be predicted from this data by calculating the probability of a random variable from a Gaussian distribution, with 0 mean and 11.5% standard deviation, to be greater than 0.5. Thus BER is calculated to be 6.87 ppm.

Fig. 2.21 shows the tuning range of the two tuning systems included in the fabricated GB-LC. The digital tuning range is measured to be 80 MHz, which is sufficient to allow for process variations. The analog tuning range varies from 22.5 to 30.2 MHz and with digital tuning code set to '3', covers the entire 902 – 928 MHz ISM band. With the help of digital tuning, any frequency in the ISM band can be reached by varying V_{tune} within the lower almost linear portion of the analog range.

The proposed GB-LC oscillator, along with its digitizing output buffer, consumes 166.8 μ W from a 1.2 V power supply, when tuned to 914.5 MHz. This excludes power consumed by the additional pad-driver buffer which drives the external 50 Ω load. The digitizing output buffer consumes about 30% of the total 166.8 μ W power, as predicted by post-layout simulation. Minimum startup current is measured to be 100 μ A.



Fig. 2.18. Measured output spectra of the the BFSK GB-LC VCO showing about 550 kHz frequency shift around 914.5 MHz center frequency.



Fig. 2.19. Phase noise spectrum of the GB-LC VCO output at 914.5 MHz. Phase noise is -97.9 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset.

🗶 L 50Ω AC	SENSE:INT	ALIGN AUTO	05:41:47 PM Oct 29, 2013
Center Freq 914.500000 MHz Input: RF	Avg Off Free Run e: 20.00 dBm		TRACE 1234
Ch1 2FSK Meas Time 300 m/div Ref 0	Ch1 2FSK Syms/Errs FSK Err = 11.454	%rms	
I-0 1.2 900m 600m 0 → → -300m -600m -900m -1.2	23.027 % pk at Mag Err = 1.3408 4.3341 % pk at Carr Ofst = -290.18 Deviation = 301.74	t sym 1890 %rms t sym 1299 kHz kHz	
-2.570423 2.5704225	0 10101010 10 24 10101010 10	0101010 101 0101010 101	01010 01010

Fig. 2.20. Constellation diagram and FSK error results of the GB-LC VCO output. The oscillator is tuned to 914.5 MHz and is 2-FSK modulated with a 100 kHz, 50% square wave simulating '01010101' bitstream at 200 kbps rate. RMS FSK error is about 11.5%.



Fig. 2.21. Tuning range of the GB-LC VCO. The digital tuning system has a range of 80 MHz which is sufficient to cover for process variations and the analog tuning range varies from 22.5 MHz to 30.2 MHz, corresponding to digital tuning code '0' to code '8'.

Figure-of-Merit (FoM) of the GB-LC is calculated using the following equation [20].

$$FoM = 10\log_{10}\left[\frac{1}{P}\left(\frac{f_o}{\Delta f}\right)^2\right] - L(\Delta f)$$

Here $L(\Delta f)$ is phase noise in dBc/Hz at Δf offset from oscillation frequency f_o with power consumption of P mW. Thus FoM is calculated to be 164.9 dB. Table 2.1 shows comparison of this oscillator to some existing works. The FoM achieved by the GBLC is somewhat inferior to the LC oscillators, and superior to most of the ring oscillators in Table 2.1. This work has been reported in [34].

Works	Topology	Process (nm)	Frequency (GHz)	Power (mW)	Phase noise (dBc/Hz)	Supply sensitivity (ppm/mV)	FoM (dB)
[35]	Ring	130	7.64	60	-103.4 @ 1 MHz	-	163.2
[26]	Ring*	65	1.38	0.046	-98 @ 10 MHz	53.3	154.2
[28]	Ring**	130	4	42	-	37.5	-
[27]	Ring	180	2.5	10.1	-92.42 @ 1 MHz	9.6	150.3
[24]	Ring	65	0.685	10	-110.8 @ 1 MHz	-	157.0
[36]	LC	90	0.915	0.38	-117 @ 1 MHz	-	180.4
[37]	LC	90	5.63	14	-108.5 @ 1 MHz	-	172.0
[25]	LC	180	1.19	1.06	-126 @ 1 MHz	-	187.3
[20]	LC	65	5.52	9.8	-151.7 @ 20 MHz	-	190.6
[38]	LC	180	4.6	2.4	-139.5 @ 10 MHz	-	189.0
This work	GB-LC	130	0.9145	0.1668 (core) 0.1169	-97.9 @ 1 MHz	35.0	164.9

Table 2.1. Performance comparison of the fabricated GB-LC with state-of-the-art.

* Self-calibrated ring oscillator

** Ring oscillator is integrated into a PLL instead of free-running.

Chapter 3 Low-Power Prescaler

The prescaler is the first stage of the frequency dividing feedback path in a typical PLL. Fig. 3.1 shows the topology of the commonly used pulse-swallowing frequency divider with a dual-modulus prescaler with division ratios selectable between N and N+1 by "modulus control". Here "P" is set to be larger than "S" in the counters. The division ratio of the full divider is NP+S.



Fig. 3.1. Topology of the commonly used Pulse Swallow frequency divider [39].

The prescaler divides down the VCO frequency by a small ratio, so that the subsequent dividers (counters) can operate at low frequency with low power cost. Besides the VCO, the prescaler is the other block in a PLL running at full RF and thus, is another dominating block in a PLL power budget. Therefore, it is highly desirable to design an ultra-low-power prescaler to reduce PLL's power consumption.

Another important parameter of the prescaler is the locking range, which is the difference of minimum and maximum input frequency the prescaler can operate on. In a PLL, the full tuning range of a VCO should be well within the divider's locking range to avoid any VCO "runaway" condition where at startup VCO oscillates at a frequency beyond the PLL locking range. Wide locking range is also very desirable to accommodate multi-band PLL operation. Moreover, a PLL design with good channel resolution benefits from multi-modulus dividers. Various structures for prescalers have been developed with a focus on maximizing the locking range and reducing power consumption. These structures can be divided into two broad categories – digital logic dividers and oscillator-based injection-locked dividers.

3.1 Digital Logic Frequency Divider

A digital prescaler is a synchronous circuit which is formed by D flip-flops. Additional logic gates are incorporated between the flip-flops to easily achieve multi-modulus operation, i.e. different division ratios. Due to these additional gates, the speed of the prescaler is affected and the switching power increases. To reduce number of devices, the additional gates are sometimes fused with flip-flops [39]. Various flip-flops have been proposed to improve the operating frequency, including current-mode logic (CML) [40], true single phase clocked logic (TSPC) [39] and extended-TSPC (E-TSPC) [41] logic flip-flops.

CML prescalers use logic cells that provide the highest speed among known topologies with the cost of high power consumption (up to tens of milliwatts). For this reason, they are used only at very high frequencies where other topologies cannot operate. TSPC prescalers are dynamic CMOS logic circuits that operate on only one clock signal to avoid problems associated with skew between complementary clock phases [39]. They have the lowest power consumption, typically on the order of several hundred microwatts [42], but they also offer operating speed lower than CML and are usually limited below 5 GHz [43]. E-TSPC prescalers are similar to TSPC circuits but use one less transistor in each branch, reducing total switching load. This increases the



Fig. 3.2. (a) A TSPC-based divide-by-2/3 prescaler reported in [39] and (b) TSPC and (c) E-TSPC flip-flops.

maximum operating frequency, but also increases short-circuit power (power consumed in a period during which a direct path exists between supply and ground, causing short-circuit). It has been shown in [39] that due to this fact E-TSPC prescalers are more power-hungry than TSPC prescalers and this power is also affected by the input signal amplitude and DC level, unlike TSPC. For this reason, a TSPC prescaler is usually preferred among digital prescalers as long as it satisfies the speed requirement. Commonly used dual-modulus TSPC prescalers are divide-by-2/3 and divide-by-3/4 prescalers [42] that can be chained together to achieve arbitrary division ratios. Fig. 3.2 shows one such TSPC-based divide-by-2/3 prescaler reported in [39] along with TSPC and E-TSPC flip-flop topologies. One of the improved TSPC prescalers reported here achieves maximum locking frequency of 4.9 GHz and consumes 306 μ W power when locked at 2 GHz input in divide-by-2 mode (16 GHz/mW).

3.2 Injection-Locked Frequency Divider

It has been shown that a free-running oscillation can be pulled or tuned to a different oscillation frequency when an external oscillatory force at a nearby frequency is injected into it [44] [45]. Injection-locked frequency dividers (ILFD) are based on this fact and use oscillators that run at a sub-harmonic frequency of an injected input signal. This effectively lowers the speed requirement for the process technology by N-fold, N being the division ratio. Thus, compared to their digital counterparts, analog dividers such as ILFDs can achieve much lower power operation. That is why ILFDs are usually preferred for ultra-low-power operations [46].

ILFDs can be either based on LC oscillators or ring oscillators. However, LC-based Is are useful only with high frequencies [47] [48]. Inductors occupy large areas in low-frequency operation and that makes this type of ILFD unsuitable for area-efficient implementations. The locking range achievable is also usually narrower than ring-based dividers because of its narrowband nature. Ring-based ILFDs can be very area- and power-efficient in low-frequency operation. The low Q and hence, inherent broadband nature of CMOS ring oscillators helps achieve large locking range. Although the phase noise of traditional ring oscillators is high, the noise dramatically performance improves when locked to a clean reference [49].

Fig. 3.3 shows a simplified architecture, presented as the Miller-type model in [45], of ILFD. It includes memoryless non-linear functions g and f and a multiplier to represent the mixing



Fig. 3.3. Miller-type model for injection-locked frequency divider [45].

of an injected signal (ω_i) with ILFD output (ω_o), which generates multiple harmonic tones ($n\omega_i \pm m\omega_o$). The band-pass filter $H(j\omega)$ filters out all frequencies other than ω_o , which is a Nth sub-harmonic of the injected frequency (ω_i/N). To compensate for the phase-shift in the injector portion, the phase shift from $H(j\omega)$ changes so that the net phase around the loop remains integer multiples of 2π . The loop changes the oscillation frequency to accommodate this phase shift. Thus, ω_o is synchronized with sub-harmonics of the injection signal and tracks ω_i and divide-by-N operation is achieved.

In [49], a divide-by-5 ILFD based on a 5-stage, single-ended ring oscillator is reported that achieves ultra-low-power operation. The structure of the divider, along with the analytical model of one stage is shown in Fig. 3.4. The function block, f(...), represents non-linear transformation on the summation of two signals – input voltage at the gate and the corresponding injection input at S node. The linear block, $A(\omega)$, represents the transfer function of one stage, which is typically a first-order low-pass filter, that is $A(\omega) = \frac{A_o}{1+j\frac{\omega}{\omega_p}}$. Here A_o is the low-frequency gain and ω_p is

the output pole of the stage.



Fig. 3.4. (a) Ultra-low-power divide-by-5 ILFD reported in [49] and (b) analytical model for one stage of the ILFD.

The input signal is injected into the shared source-node, S, of the 5 stages. In free-running oscillation with frequency, the G nodes have large swings with $2\pi/5$ radian phase shift between adjacent G nodes. In this case, the S node experiences a large 5th harmonic component. When the ILFD is locked to $5\omega_0$ frequency at v_{inj} , where ω_0 is the output frequency, the actual strength of the injected current that reaches the individual stage has strong 1st to 5th harmonics of ω_0 . The nonlinear block mixes with a strong tone of ω_0 and its harmonics at G₁ and generates a strong component of ω_0 . The higher frequency components are filtered out by $A(\omega)$ with ω_p close to ω_0 . The DC and lower frequencies are blocked by the loop which has a negative gain at low frequencies.

The observations made in [49] on ring-based ILFD are as follows -

- The locking range decreases for higher division ratios as increased number of stages results in sharper band-pass filtering.
- As the lock frequency is moved away from free-running frequency, input signal strength needs to increase to provide additional gain to meet Barkhausen Criterion of loop gain.
- 3) If the DC bias current is increased, ω_p of the stages is increased. Thus with higher power consumption, free-running frequency as well as absolute locking range will increase, but relative or fractional locking range will remain same.

Various ultra-low-power ILFDs has been reported. For example, the divider in [49] consumes only 3 μ W locked at 400 MHz input frequency. Another 43 μ W ILFD is reported in [50] that operates at 6 GHz input frequency. On the other hand, ILFD's locking range is limited on both high and low ends, such as 56% in [49] or 80% in [50] unlike digital dividers that can

operate on incoming frequencies approaching DC. Compared to the digital dividers, ILFDs are also hard to design for multi-modulus operation and require complex circuitry, such as programmable delay chain [51], multi-phase injection inputs [52], complex design method [53] or multiple oscillator cores [54].

3.3 Hybrid Frequency Divider

From the previous sections it can be understood that a ring-oscillator-based ILFD or a TSPC-based digital prescaler would be the practical choice for a prescaler in a low-power sub-GHz PLL. It is also discussed that ILFDs come with narrower locking ranges than dynamic logic prescalers while consuming lower power than them. ILFDs are also difficult to design for multi-modulus operation.

For this work, a dual-modulus (4/5) hybrid frequency divider is designed and tested that combines features from dynamic logic dividers and injection-locked dividers to simultaneously achieve wide fractional locking range and ultra-low power consumption. The divider is designed in 90 nm CMOS process with detailed design considerations presented in [55] and mathematical analysis and measurement results reported in [56]. Fig. 3.5 shows the comparison between the hybrid divider and state-of-the-art, considering fractional locking range and figure-of-merit (FoM). Here FoM is defined in GHz/mW as the ratio of operating frequency to corresponding power consumption.

The topology of the divide-by-4/5 hybrid divider is shown in Fig. 3.6. Similar topologies are reported in [57] and [58]. However, the topology in [57] is an injection-locked divider with sinusoidal injection signal only varying the edge-times of the ring oscillator core and is not optimized for power consumption. The topology in [58] is also not exploited for maximizing



Fig. 3.5. Overview of state-of-the-art prescalers along with the hybrid frequency divider.



Fig. 3.6. Topology of the divide-by-4/5 hybrid frequency divider for this work.

locking range and minimizing power consumption. In this work, the divider topology is further exploited in this work in the sub-GHz region (MICS and ISM bands) and has been built to operate in a digital mode which maximizes the locking range. The digital operating principle also facilitates use of minimum size transistors of available technology for sub-GHz frequency, thus reducing power consumption and increasing FOM. Also, a simple and flexible multi-modulus feature can be introduced.

Detailed description of operation, analysis and measured performances of the hybrid dualmodulus divider developed in this work are discussed in the following sub-sections.

3.3.1 Architecture and Operation

The divider is based on a 5-stage single-ended ring oscillator. Each stage in the ring is a dynamic CMOS inverter with PMOS header and NMOS footer. The key factor in the operation of the developed divider is digitally controlled propagation of the oscillation signal through the stages of the oscillator. Thus, a single-ended ring oscillator with (2n+1) stages can be converted to a divide-by-(2n+1) divider.

The hybrid divider is designed for dual-modulus operation by introducing an extra parallel header switch in one stage as a modulus control (MC) switch. With logic "low" applied to the MC switch, the divider operates in divide-by-4 mode.

A two-stage input buffer converts the input RF signal into a digital input IN. Another twostage output buffer ensures rail-to-rail output signal levels.



Fig. 3.7. (a) Divide-by-5 and (b) divide-by-4 operations of the designed divider. The arrows indicate propagated transitions controlled by input signal.

When the MC switch is off (MC = logic '1'), the divider operates in divide-by-5 (\div 5) mode, illustrated in Fig. 3.7(a). During this mode, the transitions in the outputs of all inverter stages are controlled by IN, through corresponding headers and footers. For example, if G₁ becomes logic low, G₂ has to wait for the following "low" half-cycle of IN signal, so that the header of the second stage turns on, allowing G₂ to rise. In this way, five stages require five consecutive IN half-cycles for a transition in a G signal to propagate through the five stages. Therefore, a cycle in a G_n signal (n = 1~5) consists of five IN cycles and thus, divide-by-5 operation occurs.

The divide-by-4 (\div 4) operation is illustrated in Fig. 3.7(b). The MC switch is turned on (MC = logic '0') for this mode and it shorts the header of the corresponding stage. As a result, as soon as G₁ becomes low in a "high" IN half-cycle, referred to as "Modulus-Control phase" or "MC-phase", G₂ becomes high, allowing G₃ to become low in the same IN half-cycle. In the process, an IN cycle is thus "swallowed" and a G_n cycle corresponds to four IN cycles. Thus, in

this case, the frequency divider performs a divide-by-4 operation. The divider can also be designed for lower division ratios by introducing additional MC switches to other stages.

The structure can also be designed to be multi-modulus by adding more MC switches across the header devices. Minimum size available in the target technology is chosen for PMOS and NMOS devices in the ring core and the header and footer switches to minimize power consumption for sub-GHz operation.

3.3.2 Mathematical Analysis for Design

For simplification of analysis, a divide-by-5 structure of the hybrid divider will be considered where the MC switch and NMOS M₁ (Fig. 3.6) are omitted.

3.3.2.1 Minimum Locking Frequency

The minimum locking frequency is limited by the sub-threshold leakage current in MOS devices. This limitation applies to all stages. Since NMOSs are stronger than equally-sized PMOSs, this problem is more significant when a G_n signal is high, as shown in Fig. 3.8.



Fig. 3.8. Two stages of the ring structure of the proposed divider showing the situation where sub-threshold leakage limits the low frequency operation.

Here G_{n-1} and G_n are settled low and high respectively in previous IN half-cycles. At the positive edge of IN, the headers, M_H, turn off and the footers, M_F, turn on. M_{P(n-1)} enters saturation mode due to G_{n-2} becoming "low". M_{Nn}, instead of staying completely off, enters weak inversion mode as the positive edge of IN couples to G_{n-1} through C_{gdH} and $M_{P(n-1)}$ and raises it to some extent. As a result, if the positive IN half-cycle is wide enough, charge stored in C_{Ln} leaks though the NMOSs and given enough time, logic "high" G_n ramps down below the threshold voltage of $M_{P(n+1)}$ causing an early trigger to the next ring-stage. Given all the devices have W width and L length, and the raise in G_{n-1} will be

$$\Delta V_{G(n-1)} = V_{DD} \left(\frac{C_{gdH}}{C_{gdH} + C_{L(n-1)}} \right).$$
(22)

If sub-threshold drain current of M_N for $V_{gsN} = \Delta V_{G(n-1)}$ is i_{leak} , and threshold voltage of M_P is V_{tp} , minimum locking frequency can be approximated as

$$f_{low} = \frac{i_{leak}}{2C_L \left(V_{DD} - |V_{tp}| \right)}.$$
 (23)

It is assumed here that the G_{n-1} will retain the slightly higher than zero voltage for entire IN half-cycle, whereas in reality $V_{G(n-1)}$ ramps down as the coupled charge leaks through "off" $M_{N(n-1)}$ and "on" $M_{F(n-1)}$. As a result *i*_{leak} slowly reduces and thus lowers *f*_{low}.

For minimum-sized devices in 90 nm CMOS process with 2.8 nm oxide thickness, $\Delta V_{G(n-1)}$ is approximately 0.14 V using (22), for which i_{leak} is found to be about 5 nA through simulation. With $|V_{tp}|$ for minimum-sized PMOS as 0.46 V, f_{low} is approximated to be 15.43 MHz using (23). With minimum-sized devices, wiring capacitance becomes comparable to gate capacitance, increasing C_L , reducing $\Delta V_{G(n-1)}$, and thus lowering f_{low} . Post-layout simulation at typical process corner and room temperature predicts f_{low} to be about 5 MHz.

Introducing the MC switch for divide-by-4 operation worsens this situation as the larger PMOS MC switch adds more diffusion capacitance to C_{gdH} in the 2nd stage. As a result, ΔV_{G2} is further increased, increasing *i*_{leak} in the 3rd stage and raising *f*_{low}. To prevent this, an extra minimum-sized NMOS is added in series with M_N in the 3rd stage (M₁ in Fig. 3.6). It is to be noted that adding the extra NMOS increases the edge times of this stage limiting high-frequency operation. Therefore, it can be omitted if low frequency or high temperature operation is not a priority.

3.3.2.2 Maximum Locking Frequency

The limiting factor in high-frequency operation is that each half-cycle of IN must have enough room to accommodate the rising or falling edge of corresponding G_n signal, along with its own edge-time. In the hybrid divider, the rising edges of the ring stages will be slower than falling edges because the PMOSs have the same minimum size as the NMOSs. Also, the stage driving the output buffers, G_4 , will be the slowest because of additional capacitive load from the output buffer. Hence, the rising edge of G_4 , t_{rise} , and falling edge of IN, t_{fall} , to enable it will determine the maximum input frequency, f_{high} , which in divide-by-5 mode is given as

$$f_{high} = \frac{1}{2\left(t_{fall} + t_{rise}\right)}.$$
(24)



Fig. 3.9. Critical portion of divider for maximum locking frequency and phase noise estimation.

The edge-times, t_{rise} and t_{fall} , can be approximated using path effort. Fig. 3.9 shows a simplified diagram of the input signal path for maximum locking frequency estimation. Minimum-sized devices are represented as "1X". Defining the 0-70% edge-time of a unit-sized inverter (both PMOS and NMOS as "1X") driving an identical inverter as τ , the edge-time, t, of a gate can be described as [59]

$$t = (gh + p)\tau. \tag{25}$$

Here logical effort, g, is the ratio of input capacitance of the gate to input capacitance of an inverter with equal current-drive. Electrical effort, h, is the ratio of load capacitance and input capacitance. Parasitic delay, p, is the delay of the gate driving no load, caused by drain capacitances at output. τ can be found through simulation.

Using (25), the falling edge-time of IN, t_{fall} , is estimated from the effort of the second stage of input buffer to be 60 ps. Since the rising-edge of G₄ is triggered by IN, t_{rise} can be estimated by considering the PMOS side of this ring-stage as a 2-input NOR gate and calculating its effort being
driven by IN. Thus, t_{rise} is calculated to be 121ps. Using these values of t_{rise} and t_{fall} in (24), f_{high} is calculated to be approximately 2.8 GHz. By neglecting overlap in the edges of adjacent stages, (24) yields a conservative estimate of the maximum locking frequency. Also with minimum-sized devices, parasitic capacitors become comparable to gate capacitance, increasing edge-times and reducing f_{high} to an estimated 1.5 GHz based on post-layout simulations at typical process corner and room temperature.

For divide-by-4 mode, a PMOS is used as the MC switch so that the MC phase consists of two falling edges and one rising edge of the G_n signals, since falling edges are faster. This PMOS is chosen to be 300 nm wide to provide a sharper rising edge in MC phase. Also, the input buffer is skewed so that IN has more than 50% duty cycle to easily accommodate the three transitions. Maximum locking frequency in this mode will be lower than that of divide-by-5 mode, because minimum IN half-cycle width is limited to accommodate these three G_n transitions instead of just one.

3.3.2.3 Phase Noise

The base phase noise of the divider can be conveniently derived by calculating the jitter or time variations in threshold-crossings of the divider signals and then relating it to the spectrum. For time jitter due to thermal noise $\sigma_{t,W}^2$, phase noise at output frequency f_{out} , can be described as [60]

$$L_W = 4\pi^2 f_{out} \sigma_{t,W}^2$$

As G_4 drives the output buffers, only jitter from this stage, along with the input and output buffers, needs to be calculated to estimate the phase noise of the divider. Jitter in the other G_n signals can be disregarded as they are already settled when G_4 transitions. Fig. 3.9 shows the portion of the divide-by-5 structure of the proposed divider that contributes jitter to the divider output. As the thermal noises in these stages are independent, jitter contributions from them can be separately calculated and summed together. Time jitter from inverters I_1 through I_4 is described as [61]

$$\sigma_t^2 = \left(\frac{1}{I_D^2}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{\overline{i_n^2}}{\Delta f}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{T_d}{2}\right).$$
(26)

Here, T_d is the propagation delay, I_D the drain current and $\overline{i_n^2}/\Delta f$ the thermal drain current noise of the conducting MOS. For short-channel devices, these are given by the following equations, where symbols convey their conventional meanings.

$$I_D = WC_{ox} v_{sat} (V_{GS} - V_t)$$
⁽²⁷⁾

$$\frac{\overline{i_n^2}}{\Delta f} = 4kT\gamma\mu C_{ox}\left(\frac{W}{L}\right)\left(V_{GS} - V_t\right)$$
(28)

$$T_d = \frac{0.52C_L V_{DD}}{I_D} \tag{29}$$

Calculation of jitter from the ring-stage requires understanding of the triggering mechanism of this stage. For example, in case of rising edge in G₄, G₃ is already settled as "low" in previous half-cycle of IN, and M_P is ready to turn on. As soon as the falling edge of IN appears, M_H turns on and M_P enters saturation mode, pushing node A to $(|V_{tp}|+|V_{ov}|)$ where gate overdrive, $|V_{ov}|$, is about 250 mV. This pushes M_H into linear region. It can be assumed that M_P stays in the saturation mode for the duration of propagation delay. In this case, jitter contribution of this ring stage will be the summation of jitter from two independent noise sources, thermal drain current noise of M_P and thermal voltage noise of the equivalent resistance of M_H, band-limited by the pole at the stage output. Jitter from the first component is computed using (26) through (29) and jitter from the second component is expressed as

$$\sigma_t^2 = \frac{kTC_5\gamma}{I_D^2}.$$
(30)

It can be seen from (26) that jitter contribution of any stage increases with its edge time and decreases with drain current. Therefore, the ring-stage in Fig. 3.9 is the major contributor in output jitter due to its lower drain current compared to the buffers, and the resulting larger edgetime. The thermal noise from the header and footer also adds to this contribution.

For the proposed divider, phase noise in the white-noise region is calculated to be -152.3 dBc/Hz, using the above equations. Pre-layout simulation predicts this to be -150 dBc/Hz. A γ of 2.5 [23] is used in these equations. The process parameters are taken from the foundry-provided models. Wiring capacitances, which will be significant compared to minimum-size devices, will add to C_L and C_5 in (29) and (30) to increase jitter. It is assumed in (27) that the corresponding devices are saturated along the full transition times. Crowbar currents and currents required by diffusion capacitance of corresponding driver stage are also not considered in this calculation. These assumptions will result in optimistic results in (29) and (30). Post-layout simulation in typical process corner shows -145 dBc/Hz phase noise at the white-noise region, after a corner at around 1 MHz.

3.3.2.4 Power Consumption

Power consumption of the proposed divider can be estimated as $P = fC_L V_{DD}^2$, where C_L represents the total gate capacitance in the circuit. For the divide-by-5 structure, power consumption is to be estimated for the input buffer driving the headers and footers at the input

frequency and the core ring oscillator and the output buffer running at output frequency. Thus, power consumption for the divide-by-5 structure can be approximated to be 1.27 μ W, which corresponds well with pre-layout simulation of the dual-modulus structure (1.63 μ W). Additional power will be consumed due to diffusion and wiring capacitances and crowbar currents. Post-layout simulations indicate power consumption at 400 MHz of 3.16 μ W and 3.39 μ W in divide-by-5 and divide-by-4 modes, respectively.

It is to be noted that about 67-70% of this power is consumed by the 2-stage input buffer driving the header and footer devices at full input frequency, as predicted by simulation. The total number of these devices is 10 in a \div 5 structure of this topology. This will reduce to 6 minimum-sized devices in a sub-GHz \div 3 structure, which represents less capacitive load for RF compared to a \div 3 TSPC divider (8 devices). This results in lower power consumption in the hybrid structure.

3.3.3 Measured Performance

The divide-by-4/5 hybrid divider was implemented in a 90 nm CMOS process for testing. Fig. 3.10 shows the microphotograph of the fabricated divider which occupies only $4.5 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ area. A $16 \times 90 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ area buffer is used to drive external 50 Ω load. To avoid the parasitic effects from packaging, chip-on-board bonding was used. The input test signal is generated with Anritsu MG3693C signal generator and output is measured with Agilent N9010A EXA signal analyzer. Fig. 3.11 shows the output spectrum centered at 80 MHz when the divider is locked to 400 MHz input frequency at \div 5 operation. The locking range is measured as 6 MHz-1.5 GHz and 4 MHz-1.3 GHz in \div 5 and \div 4 modes, respectively. Thus, a 198% dual-modulus locking range is achieved covering MICS band and 433 and 915 MHz ISM bands.



Fig. 3.10. Microphotograph of the fabricated dual-modulus divider.



Fig. 3.11. Output spectrum of the divider at ÷5 mode locked by 400 MHz input frequency.



Fig. 3.12. Phase noise spectra of divider output in \div 4 mode, locked by 1.3 GHz and 400 MHz input frequencies. The dashed curve shows the base phase noise of the signal analyzer.

Fig. 3.12 shows the phase noise plots of the divider in \div 4 mode, locked at 400 MHz and 1.3 GHz input frequencies. The phase noise corner is at 1 MHz. Phase noise in flicker-noise region is dominated by the signal analyzer, as indicated by the dashed line. However, phase noise from the divider can be measured in the white-noise region to be -133.3 dBc/Hz for 400 MHz input frequency. Phase noise increases as the input frequency approaches the maximum locking range because the time for ring-stage G₄ to settle reduces and the other stages also start to contribute their own jitter to the output.

Phase noise spectrum near the minimum locking frequency coincides with that of 400 MHz. Stepping out of the locking range, the ring-stages starts to miss-trigger and phase noise dramatically increases. The minimum and maximum locking frequencies were determined by finding the extreme frequencies at which no significant carrier-frequency deviation (>1 Hz) or phase noise aberrations were observed over a span of 10 minutes.

With 400 MHz input frequency, the divider, along with the two-stage buffers consumes only $3.76 \ \mu\text{W}$ and $4.07 \ \mu\text{W}$ power at divide-by-5 and divide-by-4 modes respectively from a 1 V supply. Thus, this work achieves a high figure-of-merit of 98.2 GHz/mW in divide-by-4 mode.

Because of the digital mode of the divider's operation, the two-stage digital input buffer is needed to convert the input RF signal to a rail-to-rail square wave. Thus, it is more important to observe the amplitude than power of the input RF signal driving the gate capacitance of the first-stage inverter. At 400 MHz, divide-by-4 mode, a sinusoidal wave with minimum 178 mVpp amplitude is required so the buffer can convert it to a digital signal with fast enough edges for the headers and footers. As input frequency increases, required minimum amplitude increases to ensure fast edges to be accommodated in input half-cycles. At 1 GHz, a sinusoid with at least 796 mVpp is required for locking.

Fig. 3.13 shows the power consumption of the proposed divider across its locking range and provides comparison with existing works in this regard. A more detailed comparison is also provided in Table 3.1. The proposed divider, due to its ILFD-like structure, consumes much less power than most existing dividers. While growing interest in wireless medical applications has spurred recent works in low-power sub-GHz dividers [49] [64], the majority of published dividers have focused on higher input frequencies, with larger transistors and correspondingly lower FOM. Among the sub-GHz frequency dividers, [49] achieves a better FOM than this work, but with less fractional locking range. This work achieves a much larger fractional locking range by taking advantage of its digital control. Unlike most previous low-power dividers, this work also features dual-modulus operation.



Fig. 3.13. Power consumption of the dual-modulus hybrid divider across locking range and a comparative overview with the state-of-the-art.

Works	Topology	Process (nm)	Division Ratio	Power (mW)	Locking Range		FoM
					GHz	%	(GHz/mW)
[40]	CML	(SiGe) 180	2	9	10 - 45	127.3	4.4
[39]	TSPC	180	2/3	(/2) 0.6	Max. 4.9*	200.0	8.0
[62]	TSPC	130	2/3	(/2) 1.2	(/2) 5 - 14.1	95.3	7.9
[63]	LC-ILFD	90	2	0.8	35.7 - 54.9	42.4	68.8
[49]	Ring-ILFD	90	5	0.003	0.37 - 0.66	56.3	133.3
[57]	Ring-ILFD	180	3	0.74	1.2 - 4.9	121.3	6.8
[48]	CML+LC-ILFD	130	4	7.3	13.5 - 30.5	77.3	3.2
[51]	Ring-ILFD	130	2/3/4/5/6	0.47	(/2) 2.56 - 5.56	73.9	10.6
[54]	Ring-ILFD	40	2&3	0.6	4.5 - 6.3	33.3	10.5
[64]	RelaxILFD	90	3	0.03	0.4 - 1.4	111.1	30
This	Hybrid	90	4	0.00407	0.004 - 1.3	198.8	98.3
work			5	0.00376	0.006 - 1.5	198.4	106.4

Table 3.1 Performance comparison with the state-of-the-art.

* Minimum locking frequency not mentioned; fractional locking range is assumed to be 200%.

Chapter 4 Power Amplifier

The power amplifier (PA) is another major power-consuming block in a transmitter. Fig. 4.1 shows the general power amplifier model [65]. The global efficiency of a high-output-power transmitter, which is defined as the ratio of transmitted power to total transmitter power consumption, is often dominated by the drain efficiency of the PA. Drain efficiency of a PA is defined as the ratio of output power to the DC power consumption of the PA. For example, in [18], a 2.35 mW PA with 0 dBm output shows 42.5% drain efficiency and after adding the 300 μ W pre-PA power to it, the global efficiency is 37.7%. For applications where output power is very low, PA power is still one of the major components of total power consumption. The 189 μ W PA in the 400 μ W MICS band transmitter in [4] is an example where the PA here is only 13% efficient. Substantial research has been conducted on improving the efficiency of RF power amplifiers.

4.1 Classes of Power Amplifiers

There are many different classes of power amplifiers that have been developed in order to improve their efficiency. These classes can be developed in two main categories – linear power amplifiers and switching power amplifiers.



Fig. 4.1. General power amplifier model.

4.1.1 Linear Power Amplifiers

Linear classes of power amplifiers are classes A, AB, B and C, depending on how the transistor M in Fig. 4.1 is biased. Fig. 4.2 shows different biasing conditions of these classes.



Fig. 4.2. Bias points of Class A, AB, B and C power amplifiers.

The Class A PA is basically a standard small-signal amplifier configured as power amplifier. In this case the MOS transistor is biased so that it operates linearly. This condition is satisfied by avoiding cutoff and triode modes and the quiescent point is settled in the middle of ID-VDS load line. This class of PA is the most linear. On the other hand, since the transistor is conducting quiescent current through the full RF cycle, efficiency is very low. Theoretically, Class A PAs can reach highest 50% efficiency [65].

Classes AB, B and C PAs are variations where the biasing condition is such that the transistor conducts the quiescent current during a portion of the RF cycle. In Class B PA, the transistor is turned on for one RF halfcycle. As a result, less DC power is dissipated, increasing

the efficiency. Theoretically a Class B PA's efficiency can be maximum 78.5%. On the other hand, because of reduced conduction time, the amplifier is not linear anymore. The gain is also reduced. Class AB is a compromise of linearity and efficiency between Classes A and B, where conduction cycle is more than half a cycle. A commonly used configuration of Class B PA is the push-pull configuration where, a PMOS and a NMOS are turned on alternatively through halfcycles.

In Class C, the PA transistor conducts quiescent current for less than half RF cycle. As a result, Class C PAs can theoretically reach efficiency over 90%. The disadvantage of Class C PA is much reduced linearity and gain.

Because of their high efficiency, Classes B and C are very popular for low-power transmitter design. Also, it is possible to achieve small circuit area with these classes employing simple impedance matching networks which allows easy integration. However, for very low-power outputs, quiescent power and power consumed by the driver stages becomes significant and reduce the efficiency. For example, in [66], a 868/915 MHz transceiver is reported with a Class AB amplifier which delivers maximum -4 dBm output power with 47.6% efficiency. This efficiency is reduced to 32.4% when the power consumed by the driving inverter stages are included. Another Class B PA, used in a 2.4 GHz transmitter in [67], achieves only about 11% efficiency at -11 dBm output power. Both these PAs use on-chip matching networks. The Class C PA in the aforementioned MICS transceiver in [4] uses simple off-chip matching network and achieves 13% efficiency.

4.1.2 Switching Power Amplifiers

In switching power amplifiers, the transistors are used more as switches than active current control devices. An ideal switch either has zero voltage across (on) or zero current through (off) itself. As a result, an ideal switch always has zero V-I product or dissipates zero power. This concept in used in switching PAs. Most known classes in this category are classes D, E and F. Fig. 4.3 shows the schematic of a voltage-mode Class D (VMCD) PA used in a 915 MHz transmitter reported in [68].



Fig. 4.3. A voltage-mode Class D power amplifier [68].

Class D amplifier structure is similar to the push-pull Class B PA. But in this case the CMOS devices are driven hard enough to make them act like switches with fast-edge signals, thus reducing DC power consumption. This results in very high drain efficiency. However, Class D PAs suffer from losses due to the non-ideal switching behavior of MOS devices. The VMCD PA in [68] shows near 60% efficiency at 6 dBm output power.

Classes E and F amplifiers are more efficient PAs than Class D. Here a complex, high order reactive network is used to shape the voltage waveform in order to have zero value and zero slope at switch turn on, thus reducing switch losses [65].

However, these switching PAs require full scale rail-to-rail operation for maximum power efficiency and thus require drive-stages that usually consume significant power. As a result, although these PAs are popular for applications with high output power, they become impractical for medical applications and other low-power wireless sensors. An added disadvantage of Classes E and beyond is their need for complex matching circuits with extra inductors which makes integration difficult.

4.2 Low-Power Power Amplifier

As discussed in the previous section, at low output power levels, typical of short-haul wireless sensors, simple PA design and operation is desirable to reduce power consumption of driver circuits and use small matching networks. Therefore, Classes B and C are promising in this area as evidenced by their popularity in recent transmitter works [66] [67] [4] [11] [69]. Since these amplifiers need sinusoidal input, they can be directly connected with the VCO, eliminating the necessity of power consuming driver circuits. This acts as a great advantage for transmitters using unlocked DCO or injection-locked or resonator-based VCOs. A form of Class D amplifier is also reported in a low-output-power transceiver in [70]. This PA is basically an output buffer consisting of four cascaded tapered inverter stages. The stages are enabled and disabled to transmit "on-off keying" (OOK) modulated carrier.

In this work, a similar approach is taken for a simple Class D low-power PA. The generated carrier in this work is already digitized at the output of the GB-LC VCO in order to be compatible with the rail-to-rail operation of the hybrid prescaler. This eliminates the need of drive-stages typical to Class D PAs in this work. The proposed PA starts with a small two-stage input buffer after which the digitized carrier signal drives four identical inverter stages in parallel. The PA



Fig. 4.4. Schematic of low-power power amplifier with OOK modulation, used in this work.

stages are designed with small devices to reduce the load capacitance for the input buffer. As a result, each PA stage has a large output resistance, in the range of 4 k Ω . A matching network transforms the 50 Ω load from an antenna to high impedance load, in the range of 2~3 k Ω , to be driven by the PA at low power. A coupling capacitor, Cc, prevents the network from disrupting the DC bias of the inverter. Output power can be varied by turning the stages on or off individually or together. The schematic of this inverter-based PA is shown in Fig. 4.4.

The digital structure of the PA also allows easy integration of an additional on-off keying (OOK) modulation system. To enable OOK modulation, the carrier is ANDed to the baseband data in the input buffer.

4.2.1 Matching Network Calculation

The matching network in this PA design is implemented off-chip using high-Q components. Using the design guidelines in [65], a tapped-capacitor or Pi network can be designed to transform a load $R_{\rm L}$ to a real high impedance $R_{\rm in}$.



Fig. 4.5. Pi network for impedance transformation.

Fig. 4.5 shows an impedance transforming network in Pi configuration. The following equations are used to derive the *L*, C_1 and C_2 parameters for specific values of R_L , R_{in} at certain center frequency f_0 and desired bandwidth Δf or network quality factor Q.

$$Q_{\text{initial}} = \frac{f_0}{\Delta f} \tag{31}$$

$$R_{I} = \frac{\left(\sqrt{R_{in}} + \sqrt{R_{L}}\right)^{2}}{Q_{initial}}$$
(32)

$$Q_{new} = \sqrt{\frac{R_{in}}{R_I} - 1} + \sqrt{\frac{R_L}{R_I} - 1}$$
(33)

$$L = \frac{Q_{new}R_I}{2\pi f_0} \tag{34}$$

$$C_{1} = \frac{1}{2\pi f_{0}R_{in}} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{R_{in}}{R_{I}} - 1}$$
(35)

$$C_{1} = \frac{1}{2\pi f_{0}R_{L}} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{R_{L}}{R_{I}} - 1}$$
(36)

Using these equations, it can be calculated that a $R_L = 50 \Omega$ can be transformed to $R_{in} = 2.45 \text{ k}\Omega$ at $f_0 = 915 \text{ MHz}$ with 45 MHz network bandwidth using a Pi network with



Fig. 4.6. PA output matching network with non-idealities.

L = 27 nH, $C_1 = 1.26$ pF and $C_2 = 8.13$ pF. Post-layout simulation of the PA with this network (Q_L assumed to be 50) shows maximum output power of -15.79 dBm with 23.6% efficiency. Output power can be reduced by 4 levels with minimum at -25.49 dBm with 6.2% efficiency. The two-stage buffer at the PA input consumes about 16 μ W power.

These calculations assume the matching network to be lossless. Furthermore, the parasitic elements like the bondwire, the printed-circuit-board (PCB) traces also need to be considered. Including these non-idealities, the entire network can be approximated to a circuit as shown in Fig. 4.6. The parasitic components such as bondwire inductance (1 nH for 1 mm bondwire) or capacitances from package lead or die pad (~100 fF) have little effect in sub-GHz frequencies, as in this work. Therefore, they can be ignored. However, for an off-chip matching network with very high transformation ratio as described above, the PCB trace between the PA and Pi network can create significant problems. It can be shown using any easily available microwave impedance calculator tool that it is impossible to achieve a trace characteristic impedance in the order of k Ω at 915 MHz. For example, for a 62 mil thick FR4 PCB, a trace with only 5 mils width and 1.4 mil thickness will have characteristic impedance, *Z*_{0,trace}, of only about 150 Ω . As a result, this trace

transforms the aforementioned R_{in} to a low complex impedance. The new transformed impedance is expressed by [71]

$$Z_{new} = Z_{0,trace} \cdot \frac{R_{in} + jZ_{0,trace} \tan \beta l}{Z_{0,trace} + jR_{in} \tan \beta l}.$$
(37)

Here *l* is the trace length and $\beta = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda}$ with λ as the wavelength of signal. As *l* approaches zero, Z_{new} approaches R_{in} . Therefore, for the matching network to be effective, it is of crucial importance that this trace is very short and very narrow. With simulations using ADS software and its Optimization tool, it can be shown that the previously discussed transformation from 50 Ω to 2.5 k Ω at PA output can still be achieved with L = 27 nH, $C_1 = 1.2$ pF and $C_2 = 7.8$ pF if the PCB trace is only 5 mils wide and 40 mils long (0.005 λ at 915 MHz) in a 62 mil thick FR4 board. This is shown in Fig. 4.7 with the help of scattering parameters.



Fig. 4.7. Impedance transformation simulation with non-idealities, including short PCB trace between PA output and off-chip matching network using ADS.

The low values of s_{11} and s_{22} at center frequency in Fig. 4.7 indicate that the desired impedance transformation is achieved, including the effect of the low-impedance, very short PCB trace. With the resulting 2.5 k Ω real impedance at the PA output, the efficiency is simulated to remain same as before, around 23%.

Chapter 5 Low-Power 915 MHz Transmitter

For this work, a low-power transmitter is designed where a low-complexity 3rd order PLL with the aforementioned GB-LC VCO and hybrid prescaler is used to reduce pre-PA power consumption. Fig. 5.1 shows the structure of the transmitter.

The frequencies commonly used for wireless sensors and medical telemetry devices are -

- 1) MICS band (402 405 MHz)
- 2) 433 MHz ISM band (433.05 434.79 MHz)
- 3) 915 MHz ISM band (902 928 MHz)
- 4) 2.4 GHz ISM band (2.4 2.5 GHz)

For this work, the 915 MHz ISM band is chosen and thus, the GB-LC VCO is designed which leads to an inductor with reasonable area and sufficiently low power consumption.



Fig. 5.1. Topology of the proposed low-power 915 MHz transmitter.

The hybrid prescaler is ported to the currently available 130 nm CMOS process, same process as for the GB-LC VCO. Post-layout simulation at the "slow-slow" process corner (worst case) on the divide-by-4/5 prescaler is used to confirm operation at 1 GHz locking frequency, well above the ISM band. A 3/4-prescaler is also cascaded to achieve divide-by-15/16 operation. At typical process corner, the 15/16-prescaler consumes 17.7 μ W power, locked at 915 MHz.

Over the course of the design various improvements and modifications are performed on the 915 MHz PLL. Several blocks, such as a power amplifier, a reference frequency generator, a tunable bias circuit etc. are designed and integrated into the design. This chapter discusses the various steps taken towards realization of a fully integrated low-power ISM-band transmitter.

5.1 Preliminary 3rd-Order PLL Design

5.1.1 Loop Filter (LF) Design

It can be seen from Fig. 2.21 that the tuning curve of the VCO is very non-linear. As it is shown in Fig. 5.2, VCO tuning gain, $|K_{VCO}|$, varies by a large amount – from below 1 MHz/V to



Fig. 5.2. Variation of tuning gain of the fabricated GB-LC described in Section 2.5.3.

over 100 MHz/V. The tuning curve becomes almost flat as V_{tune} reaches the supply voltage, which limits the usable tuning voltage range. The major challenge that arises from this nonlinearity is to maintain PLL stability over the range of K_{VCO} variation. That is why careful loop filter design is required.

The design guidelines in [72] are followed for this PLL. Bode plot is a simple way to analyze the stability of the PLL. The open loop transfer function of the 3rd order PLL, shown in Fig. 5.2, is given by

$$G(s) = \frac{K_P K_{VCO}}{s^2 C_1 N} \cdot \frac{1 + sT_2}{1 + sT_3}.$$

Here, K_P is the gain from PFD-CP blocks and is expressed as $K_P = I_{CP}/2\pi$, I_{CP} being the charge-pump current. The zero and the pole from ω_2 and ω_3 are given by $\omega_2 = \frac{1}{T_2} = \frac{1}{R_2}(C_1 + C_3)$ and $\omega_2 = \frac{1}{T_3} = \frac{1}{R_2}C_3$, respectively. If ω_2 is chosen to coincide with the transition frequency, ω_T , the Bode plot should be as shown in Fig. 5.3, with the phase margin (PM) determined at ω_2 .

Keeping in mind the wide range of K_{VCO} variation, values of R_2 , C_1 and C_3 is chosen such that –

- $\omega_3 = 10\omega_2$
- $\omega_2 = \omega_T$, for minimum value of K_{VCO} under consideration) and
- reasonable phase margin for stability, for example 40°, is achieved.



Fig. 5.3. Bode plot of open-loop gain of the 3rd order PLL in Fig. 5.1.



Fig. 5.4. Variation in phase margin of PLL due to variation of VCO gain.

Now, if $|K_{VCO}|$ varies by one order of magnitude, for example 10 MHz/V to 100 MHz/V, G(dB) curve in Fig. 5.3 will move up by 20 dB and ω_T will shift to ω_3 , with higher than 40° phase margin achieved over the range of K_{VCO} variation (Fig. 5.4). Thus, loop stability for an order of magnitude variation of K_{VCO} can be achieved. Care is taken in the loop filter design such that some positive phase margin remains as K_{VCO} decreases below 10 MHz/V. It is to be noted that the loop bandwidth also decreases with K_{VCO} and less close-in phase noise from VCO will be suppressed.

5.1.2 Tuning Limiter



Fig. 5.5. The structure of the tuning limiter block introduced between the LF and the VCO in the PLL.

It is clear from Fig. 5.2 and Fig. 5.4, when V_{tune} nears the supply voltage, K_{VCO} is much reduced (below 1 MHz/V) which lowers the phase margin to almost zero, risking oscillation. To avoid this, it is desired to limit V_{tune} below 0.4 V where K_{VCO} varies by less than one order of magnitude. To perform this, the PLL architecture is modified with a limiter block introduced between the LF and the VCO. The structure of this block is shown in Fig. 5.5. The first stage is a high-input-impedance, low-input-capacitance unity gain buffer that supports rail-to-rail input and consists of two operational transconductance amplifiers (OTA) with NMOS and PMOS input pairs. The resistive divider scales down V_{ctrl} from LF to V_{tune} for VCO by 1/3, i.e. 0~0.4 V. Also because of the scaling down, K_{VCO} variation, as seen by the PLL, is further reduced and tuning becomes more linear. The limiter block is designed to consume only 10 µA from 1.2 V supply. The output poles from the two stages are designed to be at least 5 times higher than pole ω_3 from the LF. Also, the resistor value *R* should be chosen large enough to not load the first stage.

5.1.3 PLL Power Breakdown

Based on these design considerations, a PLL is designed in a 130 nm 1P8M CMOS process. To avoid large simulation time, the PLL was simulated with behavioral-level blocks before fabrication. Table 5.1 shows the power consumption breakdown of this PLL as expected from simulation and previous measurement results.

Table 5.1. Expected power consumption breakdown of the 3rd order PLL with 1 MHz frequency resolution.

Block	Status	Power consumption
GB-LC VCO	Measured	166.8 μW
Divide-by-15/16 Prescaler	Simulated	17.7 μW
PFD + Charge Pump + Programmable Counter	Simulated	17.5 μW
Tuning Limiter	Simulated	12 µW
Total pre-PA power	214 µW	

5.2 Modifications and Improvements over Preliminary PLL Design

5.2.1 Modification of GB-LC Analog Tuning

As discussed in the previous section, the severe nonlinearity of the tuning range affects the PLL dynamics and a tuning limiter is required to mitigate this effect. However, this solution has some drawbacks. The V_{ctrl} is a critical node in the PLL as it directly modulates the VCO frequency. Introducing the limiter block adds thermal noise from the large resistors and device noises to this node and will result in spurs at the VCO output and therefore, needs to be optimized for noise contribution. The large resistors also consume extra die area. The OTAs used in the limiter also must be designed to have good supply-noise rejection.

To understand the reason of this nonlinearity in tuning, the C-V characteristic curve of the tuning capacitor, shown in Fig. 5.6(a), should be examined. The tuning capacitor is an NMOS (with drain-source shorted) in N-well and its capacitance reaches its maximum as the V_{GS} reaches mid-rail. In the GB-LC described in Chapter 2, C_{tune} is connected to the tank node, v_t . In this case,



Fig. 5.6. (a) The tuning varactor, C_{tune} , is moved from the tank node to the A-cell input to reduce variation of K_{VCO} . (b) C-V characteristic curve of the varactor (NMOS in N-well).



Fig. 5.7. Reduced Kvco variation due to new placement of the tuning capacitor.

 $V_{GS} = V_{tune} = 0 \sim 1.2 V$. As a result, as V_{tune} is increased, the tuning curve becomes almost flat beyond $V_{tune} \approx 0.7 V$.

The C-V plot is more linear if V_{tune} is varied in the -0.5~0.5 V range. Therefore, C_{tune} is moved to the input of the A-cell (Fig. 5.6(b)), which is biased at its threshold voltage, $V_{0,A}$. In this case, $V_{GS} = V_{tune} - V_{o,A}$. Simulation predicts that $V_{0,A}$ stays within 0.35~0.5 V across process corners for the already designed A-cell and allows good linearity in C_{tune} , and thus reduces K_{VCO} variation within an order of magnitude. This eliminates the need of the tuning limiter.

The analog tuning range of the GB-LC in this case is also doubled. The varactor is reduced in size to decrease maximum K_{VCO} in order to reduce reference spurs at the VCO output. The changed tuning curve is shown in Fig. 5.7. The gain curve is obtained through MATLAB. The variations in the gain curve near $V_{tune}=1.2V$ are due to the inaccuracy of the polynomial curve-fitting in MATLAB.

5.2.2 Optimization of GB-LC Power Consumption

It is shown in Table 5.1 that the VCO still consumes over 75% power of the total power consumption in the proposed PLL. The observations made in Chapter 2 can be further exploited to reduce this power consumption.

According to the startup criterion, (20), g_m of the G_m-cell can be further decreased by increasing the gain of A-cell. Thus, power consumption of G_m-cell can be further reduced. However, this will have the following effects –

- Lower G_m-cell current in reduced voltage swing at the tank, *v*_t and Leeson's equation, if applied to the GB-LC, dictates an increase in phase noise as a result.
- Reduced swing in *v*_t allows the A-cell to drive the G_m-cell with a more sinusoidal waveform. This will cause the charge injected to the tank by the G_m-cell (*i*_{0,Gm}) to spread across a narrower time-length. This is should be improving phase noise or at least mitigating its degradation due to reduced *v*_t swing to some extent.
- The tank node, *v*_t is also input to the digitizing buffer, which consists of CMOS inverters. Reduced *v*_t swing will cause more static current consumption in the first stage of this buffer.

The fabricated GB-LC, with -97.9 dBc/Hz phase noise at 1 MHz offset yields 11.5% FSK rms error that results in a BER of only 6.87 ppm ($< 10^{-3}$ ppm). This means that there is more room for tradeoff between power and phase noise. In the fabricated version of GB-LC described in Chapter 2, both the A-cell and Gm-cell consist of equally-sized devices and are biased with equal currents to allow DC-coupling between them. As a result, the Gm-cell exhibits excess g_m , meaning extra power consumption. This is improved by decreasing the bias current of the Gm-cell,

compared to that of the A-cell. The device sizes are decreased in the same ratio to maintain equal current density and V_{GS} for DC coupling. However, this reduction is limited due to the effects mentioned above. As a result, the bias current and device sizes of the G_m-cell can be reduced to be half of those of the A-cell. The first inverter of the digitizing buffer should also be starved to limit the resultant increased static power consumption. Post-layout simulation at typical corner indicates that the VCO current consumption is reduced to 111 µA with phase noise raised to about -89 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset. Phase noise can still be lowered by increasing bias current.

5.3 On-chip Integration of PLL Peripherals

The proposed PLL is designed to achieve 1 MHz channel resolution. For this, a Pierce oscillator is implemented on-chip [73]. The oscillator needs only an off-chip, $2.5 \text{ mm} \times 2 \text{ mm}$, 16 MHz crystal and its 8pF load capacitor. The 16 MHz signal generated by the oscillator is then divided down to 1 MHz for PLL's reference using D Flip Flop-based asynchronous counter. The schematic of the oscillator is shown Fig. 5.8.



Fig. 5.8. Schematic of Pierce crystal oscillator for generating reference frequency for PLL.

A tunable bias circuit with cascade current mirrors is also implemented on-chip which provides biasing to the GB-LC VCO, the crystal oscillator and the charge-pump. The bias circuit is digitally tunable over a good range to counter process and voltage variations.

As mentioned before, a BFSK modulation system is built into the GB-LC VCO and the PA block has a built-in OOK modulation system. A logic circuit is integrated in the transmitter to provide selectivity between these two systems.

The transmitter is programmed with a 35-bit shift register. The bits distribution of this register is shown in Table 5.2. Desired transmitter settings can be written into the register using an off-chip microcontroller at the beginning of transmitter operation and the register draws negligible current during any transmitter operation.

Block	Register bits	
VCO coarse frequency control	4-bit	
VCO FSK shift control	3-bit	
PA output level control	2-bit	
Bias tuning	14-bit	
Programmable counter in divider	12-bit	

Table 5.2. Memory distribution of the transmitter-programming register.

Chapter 6 Measured Performance of Low-Power Transmitter

The proposed low-power transmitter has been developed in two phases. The measured performance of the transmitter in these phases are discussed in the next sections.

6.1 Low-Power 3rd Order PLL

In the first phase, the 3^{rd} order PLL was taped out and measured in a 130 nm 1P8M CMOS process. The PLL in this phase was designed with the hybrid prescaler and the GB-LC VCO with the modified analog tuning and optimized power consumption, as described in sections 5.2.1 and 5.2.2. The layout and die microphotograph of this PLL is shown in Fig. 6.1. The die was assembled in a 7 mm × 7 mm QFN package which was then placed in an RF test socket and the PLL was



Fig. 6.1. Layout of the 3rd order PLL in the first phase of proposed transmitter implementation.

tested with the setup showed in Fig. 6.2. An off-chip 1 MHz crystal oscillator is used to generate reference for the PLL. A digital, high-frequency, pad-driving buffer provides the RF output. Buffers are also added to monitor the frequency divider output and the PLL control voltage, v_{ctrl} , generated by the Charge Pump (CP) and Loop Filter (LF). Individual bias currents are provided for the VCO, CP and buffers by off-chip transconductor circuits.

Fig. 6.3 shows the output spectrum of the unmodulated 915 MHz carrier generated by the PLL, obtained using spectrum analyzer. It is to be noted that the reference spurs at 1 MHz offset shows up with higher strength (-31 dBm offset from carrier) only if the buffer for v_{ctrl} is turned on. The frequency divider output and the settled v_{ctrl} , observed in oscilloscope, are shown in Fig. 6.4.

The phase noise spectra of the free-running GB-LC VCO and the PLL is shown overlaid in Fig. 6.5. The v_{ctrl} buffer is turned off during this. The PLL suppresses close-in phase noise in about 10 kHz closed-loop bandwidth. Phase noise is -87.93 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset. The GB-LC VCO draws 111.8 μ A current. This agrees very well with the results from post-layout simulation.



Fig. 6.2. Test setup for the 3rd order PLL in the first phase.



Fig. 6.3. Spectrum of unmodulated 915 MHz carrier generated by the PLL.



Fig. 6.4. VCO signal divided down to 1 MHz and CP-LF generated control voltage.



Fig. 6.5. Overlaid phase noise spectra of the VCO and PLL. This shows 10 kHz PLL bandwidth and unsuppressed phase noise of -87.93 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset.



Fig. 6.6. Constellation and statistical error results of FSK modulated carrier at (a) 100 kbps and (b) 400 kbps data rate. The data is simulated by a square wave a from function generator.

Fig. 6.6 shows the performance of the BFSK modulation system of the PLL with the power-reduced VCO. The BFSK modulation with 250 kHz deviation shows only 12% rms error at 400 kbps data rate, which corresponds to 15.45 ppm BER using the method described in Chapter 2 . It is to be noted that as this BER is more than that found from the GB-LC in Chapter 2 . This is the result of sacrificing phase noise performance for lower power consumption.

The PLL consumes total 175.3 μ W power from a 1.2 V supply. This power is distributed among the VCO and the rest of the PLL (including the hybrid prescaler) as 134.2 μ W and 41.1 μ W.

6.2 Low-Power Transmitter

In the second phase, the crystal oscillator and the power amplifier was integrated with the PLL to implement the low-power transmitter in the same 130 nm CMOS process. A tunable bias circuit is also implemented on-chip, such that all the blocks in the transmitter can be biased using only one off-chip resistor. The die was assembled in a 12 mm \times 12 mm QFN package and then placed in an RF test socket for testing. The transmitter occupies 0.29 mm² silicon area. The die microphotograph and a schematic of the test setup are shown in Fig. 6.7 and Fig. 6.8.



Fig. 6.7. Microphotograph of the transmitter die.



Fig. 6.8. Test setup for the transmitter.

During the measurements of the preliminary transmitter, some modifications were found necessary with the digitizing buffer of the GB-LC VCO. This buffer provides the output of the GB-LC to the rest of the circuit. The number and strength of the inverter stages needed to be increased to ensure sufficient digitization. In the transmitter circuit, the digitizing buffer provides the signal to three blocks – the frequency divider, the power amplifier and a pad-driving RF test buffer. The RF buffer is designed to drive an off-chip load capacitance of 30pF from measurement instruments. As a result, the RF buffer consumes very large amount of current (about 30 mA) and the multiple large inverter stages generates enough noise to disrupt in the substrate the operation of sensitive low-frequency blocks of the PLL. With this insight, the RF buffer is placed in an isolated substrate using low-doped, highly resistive substrate region. This also results in long metal wiring between the RF buffer and the digitizing buffer and thus, large parasitic capacitance to be driven by the digitizing buffer. This increases its power consumption, as observed to be about 48 µW in the GB-LC described in Chapter 2. To remedy this problem, a small pre-buffer can be placed close to the digitizing buffer, before the RF buffer. This pre-buffer would share the same power supply with the RF buffer which would be separate from the transmitter's supply, and therefore its power consumption would not be counted for total power consumption. Careful placement of the divider and PA blocks are also necessary to reduce the wiring capacitance at the digitizing buffer's output. These adjustments are shown in Fig. 6.9. For this transmitter-under-test, however, the bias current input is increased to raise the oscillation amplitude. As the bias input is also common to the charge pump and the crystal oscillator, their power consumption is also increased. As a result, power consumption of the PLL in this phase is higher than that in the first phase.



Fig. 6.9. (a) Previous layout of the output wiring of GB-LC's digitizing output buffer. (b) New layout showing the adjustments done to reduce the extra power consumption for driving the RF test buffer.
Also because of using larger test socket, the PCB trace between the PA output and the matching network is long enough to deteriorate the impedance transformation by the matching network. As a result, the PA efficiency is reduced from estimation through simulations. The matching network was adjusted using ADS software with microstrip model for the trace to provide maximum possible power output and efficiency.

Fig. 6.10 shows the output spectrum of the unmodulated 925 MHz carrier generated by the proposed transmitter. The maximum output power is -18.6 dBm with 12.5% drain efficiency, achieved by turning on all four PA stages. The different output power levels and corresponding efficiencies of the PA at different settings are listed in Table 6.1. The phase noise spectra of the free-running GB-LC VCO and the PLL is shown in Fig. 6.11. The PLL suppresses close-in phase noise in about 10 kHz closed-loop bandwidth. Phase noise is -100.2 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset.

Fig. 6.12 and Fig. 6.13 show the performance of the BFSK modulation system. The BFSK modulation with 250 kHz deviation achieves maximum 3 Mbps speed with 11% rms error, corresponding to 2.74 ppm BER. At 200 kbps speed, the error reduces to 4.4%. A pseudo-random data set of about 2.6 million bits is also transmitted at a receiver-limited rate of 400 kbps and received at 1 m distance with 0 bit errors. Manchester encoding is used to prevent symbol degradation due to the PLL's frequency correction response by removing any DC state in data. This also aids in clock and data recovery. This is to be noted that Manchester encoding doubles the number of bits or the bit rate for a certain data rate. As a result, Manchester-encoded data at 400 kbps is equivalent to 800 kbps not-encoded data. At 800 kbps speed, the transmitter yields 7.68% rms FSK error with '01010101' bitstream, corresponding to 3.7×10^{-5} ppm BER.



Fig. 6.10. Spectrum of unmodulated 925 MHz carrier signal, with PA at maximum output power, -18.6 dBm.

Table 6.1. Power Amplifier output power levels, power consumption and efficiencies.

No. of active stages	Output power (dBm)	Power consumption (µW)	Efficiency (%)
1	-29.67	43.2	2.5
2	-24.1	69.12	5.6
3	-21.12	92.4	8.4
4	-18.62	110.4	12.5



Fig. 6.11. Overlaid phase noise spectra of the PLL and the free-running VCO. Phase noise of PLL is -100.2 dBc/Hz at 1 MHz offset.

Symbol Rate 3.00000000 MH	1z ↔→→ Trig: F Range	Avg Off ree Run :: -10.00 dBm	TRACE 1234
Ch1 2FSK Meas Time 300 m/div Ref 0		Ch1 2FSK Syms/Errs	
I-Q 1.2 900m 600m 300m 0 -300m -600m -900m -1.2		39.667 % pk at sym 166 Mag Err = 449.24 m%rms 1.2349 % pk at sym 169 Carr Ofst = -16.748 kHz Deviation = 245.76 kHz	<u>-</u>
-2.5825472	2.58254717	0 10101010 10101010 1010 ⁻ 24 10101010 10101010 1010 ⁻	1010 1010

Fig. 6.12. Constellation diagram and BFSK error results of the transmitter with continuous '01010101' bitstream at 3 Mbps speed with 250 kHz deviation. RMS FSK error is about 11%.



Fig. 6.13. Two bytes from a pseudo-random data (Manchester encoded) set transmitted and received at 400 kbps speed through FSK modulation system. Data is sampled at 4 MHz by the receiver.

Fig. 6.14 and Fig. 6.15 show the performance of the OOK modulation system. The OOK output is observed in oscilloscope first with continuous '01010101' bitstream as baseband data at maximum 20 Mbps speed. The pseudo-random data set mentioned previously is again transmitted through OOK at 400 kbps and received at 1 m distance with 0 bit errors. Manchester encoding is used for clock and data recovery.

For -18.6 dBm radiated power, the transmitter consumes $367.1 \,\mu\text{W}$ power from $1.2 \,\text{V}$ supply in FSK mode and $314.3 \,\mu\text{W}$ in OOK mode. The power breakdown of the different blocks is listed in Table 6.2. The transmitter shows energy efficiency of 122.3 pJ/bit during 3 Mbps FSK transmission and only 15.7 pJ/bit during 20 Mbps OOK transmission. This efficiency is superior to recent low-power transmitter works. The performance summary of the transmitter, with comparison with the state-of-the-art is shown in Table 6.3. This work has been reported in [74].



Fig. 6.14. 925 MHz carrier OOK-modulated by continuous '01010101' bitstream at 20 Mbps speed.



Fig. 6.15. Two bytes from a pseudo-random data (Manchester encoded) set transmitted and received at 400 kbps speed through FSK modulation system. Data is sampled at 2 MHz by the receiver.

Block	Power consumption (µW)		
Crystal oscillator	32.6		
PLL (= PFD + Charge pump + Frequency divider)	50.		
GB-LC VCO + Bias network	174		
Power amplifier (186 dPm output)	FSK	110.4	
	OOK	57.6	
Total	FSK	367.1	
10(a)	OOK	314.3	

Table 6.2. Power breakdown of the proposed transmitter in the second phase.

Table 6.3. Performance summary of the proposed BFSK/OOK transmitter and comparison to state-of-the-art.

	This	work	[75]	[11]	[69]	[76]	[77]
Publication	RFIC,'15		JSSC,'11	JSSC,'11	RFIC,'13	TBioCAS,'11	TBioCAS,'13
Frequency (MHz)	925		920	400	400/433	2400	400
CMOS (nm)	130		180	130	130	90	90
Die area (mm ²)	0.29		-	0.04	0.41	0.882	0.06
Architecture	PLL + PA		Unlocked DCO + PA	ILVCO + Edge- combining PA	PLL + PA	PLL+PA	ILVCO + Edge combiner + PA
On-chip channel selection	Yes		Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No
Output power (dBm)	-18.6		-10	-16	-16	0	-17
Modulation	FSK	OOK	FSK	FSK	FSK	OOK	OOK
Data rate (Mbps)	3*	20	5	0.2	0.08	10	1
Power consumption (µW)	367	314	700	90	150	2530	160
Energy efficiency (pJ/bit)	122.3	15.7	140	450	1875	253	160
Supply voltage (V)	1.2		0.7	1.2	0.7-1.2	1	0.6

* 11% rms FSK error, reduces to 4.4% at 200 kbps data rate.

Chapter 7 Conclusion and Future Works

7.1 Original Contributions

A low-power, low-complexity PLL-based transmitter for wireless sensors is presented in this dissertation. Pre-power-amplifier power consumption has been identified as the key challenge for this work. New circuit topologies for the two most power-hungry blocks, oscillator and prescaler, have been developed and analyzed as solutions to this problem.

The original contributions of this work are listed below –

- Designed and tested an ultra-low-power, wide-locking-range, dual-modulus frequency divider as the prescaler in a PLL. The wide locking range enables it to be integrated into PLLs aimed at MICS band, 433 and 915 MHz ISM bands. The dual-modulus feature is very desirable for a programmable frequency divider.
- Developed critical design considerations and mathematical analysis enabling easy estimation of the divider's power consumption, locking range and white-region phase noise.
- Designed and tested a novel low-power gain-boosted LC (GB-LC) oscillator as the VCO in a PLL. The gain-boosting topology enables much reduced startup power in a simple single-ended structure, while retaining reasonable noise performance for wireless sensor applications with simple, low-data-rate modulation schemes.
- Developed mathematical analysis for predicting the GB-LC oscillator's frequency of oscillation, startup criteria and phase noise.

• Designed and implemented a low-power PLL-based transmitter on-chip, integrating the new VCO and prescaler topologies and successfully tested for short-range transmissions using both FSK and OOK modulation schemes. The transmitter shows very high energy efficiency, suitable for low-power wireless sensors.

The proposed transmitter successfully proves the core concept of this work which is that carrier phase noise tolerance can be loosened while maintaining acceptable transmission quality for applications with low-data-rate simple modulation schemes, such as low-power wireless sensors. This is a very important consideration when reduction for power spent for carrier generation is desired.

7.2 Future Work

Some improvements to the proposed transmitter remain yet for future work. They are summarized below –

- The GB-LC VCO still consumes more than 50% of the total power of the transmitter. It has been shown in [78] that current-reuse technique can greatly reduce power consumption of an LC VCO. Techniques such as this can be investigated also on the proposed GB-LC VCO to further reduce its power consumption while maintaining current phase noise performance. High-Q bondwire inductances can be also investigated for the VCO tank to improve the power and noise performance.
- The power amplifier is the second most power-hungry block in this transmitter and it needs a more efficient design. The Class D amplifier used here takes the digitized carrier as the input and needs a small driver, which consumes power. Driverless PA

classes like B and C can be investigated to use the sinusoidal carrier in the VCO tank directly, which can provide better efficiency.

- The off-chip matching network used by the PA can be integrated on-chip with bondwire or on-chip inductors. This will eliminate the degradation of transformation ratio by non-idealities such as circuit-board traces. This will also reduce the circuit-board size.
- A process- and supply-insensitive beta-multiplier reference block can be integrated onchip to generate current reference for the tunable bias circuit.
- The GB-LC VCO can be investigated for unlocked DCO-based transmitters with calibration, which can prove to be lower-power transmitter than a PLL-based one.
- The proposed transmitter should be integrated in a wireless sensor system-on-chip and field-tested for performance.

References

- [1] T. Morrison et al., "The Bumblebee: A 0.3 gram, 560 μW, 0.1 cm wireless biosignal interface with 10 m range," in *IEEE 47th DAC/ISSCC Student Design Contest*, 2010.
- [2] J. M. Rabaey et al., "PicoRadios for wireless sensor networks: the next challenge in ultralow power design," in *IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig. Tech. Papers*, 2002, pp. 200-201.
- [3] Medical Implant Radiocommunication Service (MedRadio), FCC Title 47 Part 95 Subpart E. [Online].
 <u>http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=19b0caeb1fcc96f2415d2d209a2fdc7e&node</u>
 <u>=47:5.0.1.1.5&rgn=div5#47:5.0.1.1.5.5.149.9</u>
- [4] J. Bae, N. Cho, and H.-J. Yoo, "A 490µW fully MICS compatible FSK transceiver for implantable devices," in *IEEE Symp. VLSI Circuits*, 2009, pp. 36-37.
- [5] Y.-I. Kwon, S.-G. Park, T.-J. Park, K.-S. Cho, and H.-Y. Lee, "An ultra low-power CMOS transceiver using various low-power techniques for LR-WPAN applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 324-336, Feb. 2012.
- [6] Q. Zhang, P. Feng, Z. Geng, X. Yan, and N. Wu, "A 2.4-GHz energy-efficient transmitter for wireless medical applications," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 39-47, Feb. 2011.
- [7] K.-C. Liao, P.-S. Huang, W.-H. Chiu, and T.-H. Lin, "A 400-MHz/900-MHz/2.4-GHz multi-band FSK transmitter in 0.18-μm CMOS," in *Proc. IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuit Conf.*, 2009, pp. 353-356.

- [8] T.-H. Tsai, J.-H. Hong, L.-H. Wang, and S.-Y. Lee, "Low-power analog integrated circuits for wireless ECG acquisition systems," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Technol. Biomed.*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 907-917, Sep. 2012.
- [9] M. K. Raja and Y. P. Xu, "A 52 pJ-bit OOK transmitter with adaptable data rate," in *Proc. IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuit Conf.*, 2008, pp. 341-344.
- [10] M.-W. Shen, C.-Y. Lee, and J.-C. Bor, "A 4.0-mW 2-Mbps programmable BFSK transmitter for capsule endoscope applications," in *Proc. IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuit Conf.*, 2005, pp. 245-248.
- [11] J. Pandey and B.P. Otis, "A sub-100 μW MICS/ISM band transmitter based on injectionlocking and frequency multiplication," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 1049-1058, May 2011.
- [12] M. Flatscher et al., "A bulk acoustic wave (BAW) based transceiver for an in-tire-pressure monitoring sensor node," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 167-177, Jan. 2010.
- [13] S. Drago et al., "A 200 μA duty-cycled PLL for wireless sensor nodes in 65 nm CMOS,"
 IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 1305-1315, Jul. 2010.
- [14] Y.-C. Huang and S.-I. Liu, "A 2.4-GHz subharmonically injection-locked PLL with selfcalibrated injection timing," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 417-428, Feb. 2013.

- [15] J. Yang and E. Skafidas, "A low power MICS band phase-locked loop for high resolution retinal prosthesis," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 513-525, Aug. 2013.
- [16] C.-T. Lu, H.-H. Hsieh, and L.-H. Lu, "A low-power quadrature VCO and its application to a 0.6-V 2.4-GHz PLL," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 793-802, Apr. 2010.
- [17] T. S. Aytur and B. Razavi, "A 2-GHz, 6-mW BiCMOS frequency synthesizer," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, no. 12, pp. 1457-1462, Dec. 1995.
- [18] X. Huang et al., "A 915 MHz, ultra-low power 2-tone transceiver with enhanced interference resilience," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 3197-3207, Dec. 2012.
- [19] A. Hajimiri and T. H. Lee, "A general theory of phase noise in electrical oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 179-194, Feb. 1998.
- [20] G. Li, L. Liu, Y. Tang, and E. Afshari, "A low-phase-noise wide-tuning-range oscillator based on resonant mode switching," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 1295-1308, Jun. 2012.
- [21] N. Cho, J. Bae, and H.-J. Yoo, "A 10.8 mW body channel communication/MICS dual-band transceiver for a unified body sensor network controller," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 3459-3468, Dec. 2009.

- [22] B. Zhao, Y. Lian, and H. Yang, "A low-power fast-settling bond-wire frequency synthesizer with a dynamic-bandwidth scheme," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 1188-1199, May 2013.
- [23] A. Hajimiri, S. Limotyrakis, and T. H. Lee, "Jitter and phase noise in ring oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 790-804, Jun. 1999.
- [24] J.-M. Kim, S. Kim, I.-Y. Lee, S.-K. Han, and S.-G. Lee, "A low-noise four-stage voltagecontrolled ring oscillator in deep-submicrometer CMOS technology," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II, Exp. Briefs*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 71-75, Feb. 2013.
- [25] A. Italia, C. M. Ippolito, and G. Palmisano, "A 1-mW 1.13–1.9 GHz CMOS LC VCO using shunt-connected switched-coupled inductors," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 59, no. 6, pp. 1145-1155, Jun. 2012.
- [26] X. Zhang, I. Mukhopadhyay, R. Dokania, and A.B. Apsel, "A 46-µW self-calibrated gigahertz VCO for low-power radios," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II, Exp. Briefs*, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 847-851, Dec. 2011.
- [27] X. Gui and M.M. Green, "Design of CML ring oscillators with low supply sensitivity," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 1753-1763, Jul. 2013.
- [28] Y.-S. Park and W.-Y. Choi, "On-chip compensation of ring VCO oscillation frequency changes due to supply noise and process variation," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II, Exp. Briefs*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 73-77, Feb. 2012.

- [29] X. Zhang and A. B. Apsel, "A low-power, process-and- temperature- compensated ring oscillator with addition-based current source," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 868-878, May 2011.
- [30] J. Borremans et al., "A low-complexity, low-phase-noise, low-voltage phase-aligned ring oscillator in 90 nm digital CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1942-1949, Jul 2009.
- [31] X. Li, S. Shekhar, and D. J. Allstot, "Gm-boosted common-gate LNA and differential colpitts VCO/QVCO in 0.18-µm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 12, pp. 2609-2619, Dec. 2005.
- [32] D. B. Leeson, "A simple model of feedback oscillator noise spectrum," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 329-330, Feb. 1966.
- [33] A. Hajimiri and T. H. Lee, *The design of low noise oscillators*. Norwell, MA: Springer, 1999.
- [34] M. S. Jahan, T. Yang, J. Lu, and J. Holleman, "A 167 μW 915 MHz gain-boosted LC VCO," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst. (ISCAS)*, 2015, p. (accepted for publication).
- [35] H. Q. Liu, W.-L. Goh, L. Siek, W. M. Lim, and Y. P. Zhang, "A low-noise multi-GHz CMOS multiloop ring oscillator with coarse and fine frequency tuning," *IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst.*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 571-577, Apr. 2009.

- [36] L.-F. Tanguay and M. Sawan, "An ultra-low power ISM-band integer-N frequency synthesizer dedicated to implantable medical microsystems," *Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process.*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 205-214, 2009.
- [37] B. Soltanian, H. Ainspan, W. Rhee, D. Friedman, and P. R. Kinget, "An ultra-compact differentially tuned 6-GHz CMOS LC-VCO with dynamic common-mode feedback," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 1635-1641, Aug 2007.
- [38] T. Siriburanon, W. Deng, K. Okada, and A. Matsuzawa, "A current-reuse Class-C LC-VCO with an adaptive bias scheme," *in RFIC Symp. Dig.*, pp. 35-38, 2013.
- [39] M. V. Krishna, A. V. Do, K. S. Yeo, C. C. Boon, and W. M. Lim, "Design and analysis of ultra low power true single phase clock CMOS 2/3 prescaler," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 72-82, Jan. 2010.
- [40] P. Heydari and R. Mohanavelu, "A 40-GHz flip-flop-based frequency divider," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II, Exp. Briefs*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 1358-1362, Dec. 2006.
- [41] T.-H. Chien, C.-S. Lin, C.-L. Wey, Y.-Z Juang, and C.-M. Huang, "High-speed and low-power programmable frequency divider," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst. (ISCAS)*, 2010, pp. 4301-4304.
- [42] W.-H. Chen and B. Byunghoo Jung, "High-speed low-power true single-phase clock dual-modulus prescalers," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II, Exp. Briefs*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 144-148, Mar. 2011.

- [43] V. K. Manthena, M. A. Do, C. C. Boon, and K. S. Yeo, "A low-power single-phase clock multiband flexible divider," *IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst.*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 376-380, Feb. 2012.
- [44] B. Razavi, "A study of injection locking and pulling in oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 9, pp. 1415-1424, Sep. 2004.
- [45] S. Verma, H. R. Rategh, and T. H. Lee, "A unified model for injection-locked frequency dividers," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1015-1027, Jun. 2003.
- [46] B. Otis et al., "Design techniques for self-powered microsystems," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst. (ISCAS)*, 2010, pp. 1429-1432.
- [47] J. Lee and B. Razavi, "A 40-GHz frequency divider in 0.18-μm CMOS technology," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 594-601, Apr. 2004.
- [48] Y.-H. Kuo, J.-H. Tsai, H.-Y. Chang, and T.-W. Huang, "Design and analysis of a 77.3% locking-range divide-by-4 frequency divider," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 59, no. 10, pp. 2477-2484, Oct 2011.
- [49] J. R. Hu and B. P. Otis, "A 3 μW, 400 MHz divide-by-5 injection-locked frequency divider with 56% lock range in 90nm CMOS," in *RFIC Symp. Dig.*, 2008, pp. 665-668.
- [50] M. Motoyoshi and M. Fujishima, "43 μW 6 GHz CMOS divide-by-3 frequency divider based on three-phase harmonic injection locking," in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuit Conf.*, 2006, pp. 183-186.

- [51] J. Lee, S. Park, and S. Cho, "A 470-µW 5-GHz digitally controlled injection-locked multimodulus frequency divider with an in-phase dual-input injection scheme," *IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst.*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 61-70, Jan. 2011.
- [52] X. P. Yu et al., "0.8 mW 1.1–5.6 GHz dual-modulus prescaler based on multi-phase quasidifferential locking divider," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 46, no. 24, pp. 1595-1597, Nov. 2010.
- [53] W. Zhang, L. Zhang, X. Zhang, and Y. Liu, "A dual-modulus injection-locked frequency divider with large locking range," *Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett.*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 269-272, Feb. 2013.
- [54] X. P. Yu, Z. H. Lu, W. M. Lim, and K. S. Yeo, "0.6mW 6.3 GHz 40nm CMOS divide-by-2/3 prescaler using heterodyne phase-locking technique," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 471-472, Mar. 2013.
- [55] M. S. Jahan and J. H. Holleman, "A 3.3 μW dual-modulus frequency divider with 189% locking range for MICS band applications," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst.* (*ISCAS*), 2012, pp. 1504-1507.
- [56] M. S. Jahan and J. Holleman, "A 4 μW dual-modulus frequency divider with 198% locking range for MICS band applications," *Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process.*, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 549-556, Dec. 2013.
- [57] Y.-C. Lo, H.-P. Chen, J. Silva-Martinez, and S. Hoyos, "A 1.8V, sub-mW, over 100% locking range, divide-by-3 and 7 complementary-injection-locked GHz frequency divider," in *Custom Integr. Circuits Conf.*, 2009, pp. 259-262.

- [58] W.-H. Chiu, T.-S. Chan, and T.-H. Lin, "A 5.5-GHz 16-mW fast-locking frequency synthesizer in 0.18-μm CMOS," in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuit Conf.*, 2007, pp. 456-459.
- [59] N. H. E. Weste and D. M. Harris, *CMOS VLSI Design: A Circuits and Systems Perspecive*,
 4th ed., M. Hirsch, Ed. Boston: Addison-Wesley, 2010.
- [60] S. Levantino, L. Romano, S. Pellerano, C. Samori, and A. L. Lacaita, "Phase noise in digital frequency dividers," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 775-784, May 2004.
- [61] C. Liu, "Jitter in oscillators with 1/f noise sources and application to true RNG for cryptography," Dept. Electrical & Computer Engg., Worcester Polytechnic Institute, Worcester, MA, PhD dissertation 2006.
- [62] W.-H. Chen, E. Roa, W.-F. Loke, and B. Jung, "A 14.1-GHz dual-modulus prescaler in 130nm CMOS technology using sequential implication logic cells," in *RFIC Symp. Dig.*, 2012, pp. 341-344.
- [63] T.-N. Luo and Y.-J. E. Chen, "A 0.8-mW 55-GHz dual-injection-locked CMOS frequency divider," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 620-625, Mar. 2008.
- [64] K. Zhu, S. K. Islam, M. Roknsharifi, M. S. Hasan, and I. Mahbub, "A divide-by-3 0.4–1.4
 GHz injection-locked frequency divider based on relaxation oscillator," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 368-370, Jul. 2013.

- [65] T. H. Lee, *The Design of CMOS Radio-Frequency Integrated Circuits*, 2nd ed.: Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [66] R. van Langevelde et al., "An ultra-low-power 868/915 MHz RF transceiver for wireless sensor network applications," in *RFIC Symp. Dig.*, 2009, pp. 113-116.
- [67] A. Paidimarri, P. M. Nadeau, P. P. Mercier, and A. P. Chandrakasan, "A 2.4 GHz multichannel FBAR-based transmitter with an integrated pulse-shaping power amplifier," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 1042-1054, Apr. 2013.
- [68] J. Rode, T.-P Hung, and P. M. Asbeck, "An all-digital CMOS 915 MHz ISM band 802.15.4
 / ZigBee transmitter with a noise spreading direct quantization algorithm," in *IEEE MTT-S Int. Micro. Symp. Dig.*, 2008, pp. 755-758.
- [69] K. Natarajan, D. Gangopadhyay, and D. Allstot, "A PLL-based BFSK transmitter with reconfigurable and PVT-tolerant class-C PA for medradio & ISM (433MHz) standards," in *RFIC Symp. Dig.*, 2013, pp. 67-70.
- [70] G. Papotto, F. Carrara, A. Finocchiaro, and G. Palmisano, "A 90-nm CMOS 5-Mbps crystal-Less RF-powered transceiver for wireless sensor network nodes," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 335-346, Feb. 2014.
- [71] D. M. Pozar, *Microwave Engineering*, 4th ed.: Wiley, 2011.
- [72] R. E. Best, *Phase-Locked Loops: Design, Simulation and Applications*, 6th ed.: McGraw-Hill Professional, 2007.

- [73] W. M. C. Sansen, Analog Design Essentials.: Springer, 2006.
- [74] M. S. Jahan, J. Langford, and J. Holleman, "A low-power FSK/OOK transmitter for 915 MHz ISM band," in *RFIC Symp. Dig.*, 2015, p. (accepted for publication).
- [75] J. Bae, L. Yan, and H.-J. Yoo, "A low energy injection-locked FSK transceiver with frequency-to-amplitude conversion for body sensor applications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 928-937, Apr. 2011.
- [76] M. Vidojkovic et al., "A 2.4 GHz ULP OOK single-chip transceiver for healthcare applications," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 523-534, Dec. 2011.
- [77] C. Ma, C. Hu, J. Cheng, L. Xia, and P. Y. Chiang, "A near-threshold, 0.16 nJ/b OOKtransmitter with 0.18 nJ/b noise-cancelling super-regenerative receiver for the medical implant communications service," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 841-850, Dec. 2013.
- [78] C. Bryant and H. Sjoland, "A 2.45GHz ultra-low power quadrature front-end in 65nm CMOS," in *RFIC Symp. Dig.*, 2012, pp. 247-250.

Vita

M. Shahriar Jahan received his B.Sc. degree in Electrical and Electronic Engineering from Bangladesh University of Engineering & Technology, Dhaka, Bangladesh in 2008. He is now working towards his Ph.D. degree in the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. His research interests include low-power analog RF IC design.